# Impulsivity, health-related behaviour and disease: A prospective study

Niklas Granö



Department of Psychology Faculty of Behavioural Science University of Helsinki, Finland

Department of Psychology Finnish Institute of Occupational Health Helsinki, Finland

Academic dissertation to be publicly discussed, by due permission of the Faculty of Behavioural Sciences at the University of Helsinki in Auditorium XII, Unioninkatu 34 on the 10<sup>th</sup> of March, 2008, at 12 o`clock

> UNIVERSITY OF HELSINKI Department of Psychology Studies 48: 2008

Supervisors:	Professor Mika Kivimäki, PhD Department of Epidemiology University College London England
	Professor Liisa Keltikangas-Järvinen, PhD Department of Psychology University of Helsinki Finland
	Docent Marianna Virtanen, PhD Department of Psychology Finnish Institute of Occupational Health Finland
Reviewers:	Docent Timo Sinervo, PhD Department of Psychology University of Tampere Finland
	Docent Taru Feldt, PhD Department of Psychology University of Jyväskylä Finland
Opponent:	Docent Mikael Sallinen, PhD Centre of Expertise for Human Factors at Work Finnish Institute of Occupational Health Finland

ISSN 0781-8254 ISBN 978-952-10-4508-0 (pbk) ISBN 978-952-10-4509-7 (PDF) http://www.ethesis.helsinki.fi Helsinki University Printing House Helsinki 2008

# CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	
TIVISTELMÄ	. 5
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	. 6
LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS	. 7
ABBREVIOATIONS	
1. INTRODUCTION	
1.1. The concept of impulsivity	. 9
1.2. Stress, impulsivity and health	13
1.3. Impulsivity, smoking and alcohol consumption: previous findings	14
1.4. Impulsivity, sleep duration and insomnia: previous findings	15
1.5. Impulsivity and peptic ulcers: previous findings	16
1.6. Impulsivity and depression: previous findings	17
1.7. Aims of the present study	19
2. METHODS	21
2.1. Participants.	21
2.2. Assessment of impulsivity	22
2.3. Assessment of smoking and alcohol consumption	23
2.4. Assessment of sleep duration and insomnia.	
2.5. Assessment of peptic ulcer	24
2.6. Assessment of depression	
2.7. Assessment of covariates at baseline	25
2.8. Statistical analysis	
3. RESULTS	29
3.1. Impulsivity, smoking, and alcohol consumption	29
3.2. Impulsivity, sleep duration and insomnia	
3.3. Impulsivity and peptic ulcers	
3.4. Impulsivity and depression	
4. DISCUSSION	
4.1. Impulsivity, health behaviour and sleep	46
Gender differences	46
Potential mechanism linking impulsivity with health behaviour and sleep	47
4.2. Impulsivity and the onset of physician-diagnosed PUD and depression	
Stress response as the link between impulsivity, PUD, depression,	
health behaviour and sleep	49
Serotonin underactivity: a potential link between impulsivity, depression	
and PUD?	51
4.3. Strengths and limitations of the study	
4.4. Implications for further studies	
5. CONCLUSION	
6. REFERENCES	58

# ABSTRACT

In clinical settings impulsivity refers to a symptom of psychiatric disorder, but nonclinically oriented research treats impulsivity as a personality and temperament dimension. This prospective study examined whether impulsivity predicts adverse healthrelated behaviour and increased risk of health problems in a large, nonclinical sample of 5433 subjects working in 12 Finnish hospitals. The data were collected using two questionnaire surveys at a 2-year interval. After controlling for alcohol use at baseline, higher impulsivity predicted increased alcohol consumption at follow-up in both genders (p < .01) and was associated with increased likelihood of becoming a heavy drinker or taking up smoking (p < .05). Impulsivity also predicted an increased number of cigarettes smoked per day in the follow-up among women (p < .001), but not among men, although adjustment for the number of cigarettes smoked at baseline attenuated these associations (p = .08 for women). In men, higher impulsivity was associated with shorter sleep duration and waking up several times per night independent of baseline characteristics (p < .01), whereas in women, higher impulsivity predicted difficulty in falling asleep and waking up feeling tired after the usual amount of sleep (p < .05). In women, these associations became nonsignificant after adjustment for pre-existing somatic and psychiatric diseases. Finally, higher impulsivity was associated with an increased 2-year incidence of physiciandiagnosed peptic ulcer disease (adjusted odds ratio (OR) = 2.42, 95% confidence interval (CI) = 1.21 - 4.82) and onset of depression (OR = 1.95, 95% CI = 1.28 - 2.97) after adjustment for a variety of baseline covariates. In conclusion, this study shows that in a nonclinical population, impulsivity appears to be a risk factor for various unhealthy behaviour and health problems.

# TIIVISTELMÄ

Kliinisissä tutkimuksissa impulsiivisuutta on pidetty lähinnä psykiatrisena häiriönä, mutta normaaliväestössä impulsiivisuus kuvaa ulottuvuutta temperamentti- ja persoonallisuus piirteissä. Käsillä oleva seurantatutkimus selvitti impulsiivisuuden yhteyttä haitalliseen terveyskäyttäytymiseen ja lisääntyneeseen sairastumiseen laajassa otoksessa 5433 tutkittavalla, jotka työskentelevät 12 suomalaisessa sairaalassa. Aineisto kerättiin kahdella lomakekyselyllä kahden vuoden aikavälillä. Lähtötason alkoholin kulutuksen vakioimisen jälkeen korkeampi impulsiivisuus ennusti suurempaa alkoholin kulutusta molemmilla sukupuolilla (p < .01) ja oli yhteydessä lisääntyneeseen todennäköisyyteen siirtyä alkoholin suurkuluttajaksi tai aloittaa tupakointi (p < .05). Impulsiivisuus ennusti myös suurempaa savukkeiden kulutusta naisilla (p < .001), mutta ei miehillä, vaikkakin lähtötason savukkeenkulutuksen vakioimisen jälkeen yhteys naisilla ei ollut enää merkitsevä (p = .08). Miehillä korkeampi impulsiivisuus ennusti lyhyempää yöunta ja lisääntynyttä yöheräilyä (p < .01), kun taas naisilla korkeampi impulsiivisuus oli yhteydessä nukahtamisvaikeuksiin ja virkistämättömään yöuneen (p < .05). Naisilla yhteys heikkeni ei-merkitseväksi somaattisten ja psyykkisten sairauksien vakioimisen jälkeen. Korkeampi impulsiivisuus ennusti myös lisääntynyttä riskiä sairastua lääkärin diagnosoimaan vatsahaavaan (OR = 2.42, 95% CI = 1.21 - 4.82) ja masennukseen (OR = 1.95, 95% CI = 1.28 - 2.97) useiden tunnettujen riskitekijöiden vakioimisen jälkeen. Käsillä oleva tutkimus esittää, että impulsiivisuus näyttäisi olevan riskitekijä erilaiselle terveyskäyttäytymiselle ja terveydelle.

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This study was carried out at the Department of Psychology, the Finnish Institute of Occupational Health (FIOH) and was supported by the Academy of Finland (projects 105195 and 117604) and the Finnish Environment Fund. The data for this dissertation were based on the Hospital Personnel Study at FIOH. I am grateful for the opportunity to have used the data and I express my gratitude to FIOH and to all employees who participated in the research project.

I am very grateful to the reviewers of this dissertation, docent Timo Sinervo from the University of Tampere and docent Taru Feldt from the University of Jyväskylä. Their comments were very valuable in the writing process. I also wish to express my warmest gratitude to all coauthors of the original publications, Mika Kivimäki at University College London and FIOH, Marianna Virtanen at FIOH, Liisa Keltikangas-Järvinen at the University of Helsinki, Jussi Vahtera at FIOH, Marko Elovainio at the National Research and Development Centre for Welfare and Health, Sampsa Puttonen at FIOH, Anne Kouvonen at the University of Helsinki and Ari Väänänen at FIOH, who gave their time and comments again and again to improve this work. I owe my special thanks to the supervisors of this work, Professor Mika Kivimäki, Professor Liisa Keltikangas-Järvinen and docent Marianna Virtanen for their encouraging guidance into the stimulating scientific world of psychology. Thank you.

Finally, I am most grateful to my wife Leena who has supported and encouraged me during this process and who has taken care of our wonderful children Maria, Siri and Max and kept them quiet all those evenings when I sat on the sofa and wrote this work. I love you all. I am also grateful to my friends and relatives for all their support during these years, even though I am not sure if I always remembered to tell them.

# LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

I Granö, N., Virtanen, M., Vahtera, J., Elovainio, M. & Kivimäki, M. (2004). Impulsivity as a predictor of smoking and alcohol consumption. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 37, 1693–1700.

II Granö, N., Puttonen, S., Elovainio, M., Virtanen, M., Väänänen, A., Vahtera, J., Keltikangas-Järvinen, L. & Kivimäki, M. (2006). Impulsivity as a predictor of newlydiagnosed peptic ulcer disease: A prospective cohort study. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 41, 1539-1550.

III Granö, N., Keltikangas-Järvinen, L., Kouvonen, A., Virtanen, M., Elovainio, M., Vahtera, J. & Kivimäki, M. (2007). Impulsivity as a predictor of newly diagnosed depression. *Scandinavian Journal of Psychology*, 48(2), 173-179.

IV Granö, N., Keltikangas-Järvinen, L., Kouvonen, A., Puttonen, S., Virtanen, M., Vahtera, J., Elovainio, M. & Kivimäki, M. (2007). Association of impulsivity with sleep duration and insomnia in an employee population. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 43(2), 307-318.

The articles are reprinted with the permission of the copyright holders.

# ABBREVIATIONS

ADHD	attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder
APA	American Psychiatric Association
BIS	Behavioural Inhibition System
BIS-10	Barrat Impulsiveness Scale
BMI	Body Mass Index
CI	confidence interval
DRD4	dopamine D4 receptor gene
DSM-IV	Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders IV
GHQ-12	General Health Questionnaire
HA	harm avoidance
H. pylori	Helicobacter pylori
IQ	intelligence quantient
IRS	Impulsivity Rating Scale
KSP	Karolinska Scales of Personality
MAO	monoamine oxidase
MET	metabolic equivalent task
NS	novelty seeking
NSAID	nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs
OR	odds ratio
PUD	peptic ulcer disease
RD	reward dependence
SD	standard deviation
STAKES	National Research and Development Centre for Welfare and Health
WHO	World Health Organization
5-HT	5-hydroxytryptamine

# **1. INTRODUCTION**

Impulsivity in clinical populations has often been seen as a symptom of psychiatric disorder, such as bipolar disease and attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) (American Psychiatric Association (APA) 1994). However, impulsivity is also a major personality and temperament dimension in several theoretical models (Cloninger et al. 1993; Evenden 1999; Eysenck, H.J. 1967; Eysenck, S. B. G. 1993; Gray 1987; Jackson 2002; Lecrubier et al. 1995; Patton et al. 1995; Schalling et al. 1987; Whiteside & Lynam 2001). In nonclinical settings, impulsivity typically refers to a tendency to engage in behaviour that involves rashness, a lack of foresight or planning, or that occurs without reflection or careful deliberation (Dawe et al. 2004).

Numerous studies of hostility, trait anxiety and optimism suggest that temperament and personality differences can be important determinants of health-related behaviour, such as smoking and heavy alcohol consumption, and increase the likelihood of developing a disease, such as depression, in general populations (Miller et al. 1996; Scheier et al. 1994; Spielberger & Jacobs 1982). However, little is known of the role of impulsivity as a predictor of such risk behaviour and morbidity or whether impulsivity is associated with sleeping problems, an increasingly prevalent problem in working populations (Lehto & Sutela 2004; Pearson, Johnson & Nahin 2006; Sateia, Doghramji, Hauri & Morin 2000.)

# 1.1. The concept of impulsivity

The concept of impulsivity covers a wide range of differing behaviour and the specific definitions given in the literature for impulsivity have varied, depending on the broader theoretical framework (Table 1). A seminal work by H. J. Eysenck and M. W. Eysenck (1985) conceptualized personality as three biologically based traits of temperament: extraversion, neuroticism and psychoticism. Extraversion is characterized by being outgoing, talkative, high in positive affect and in need of external stimulation. Neuroticism is characterized by high levels of negative affect such as depression and anxiety, and

psychoticism is characterized by tough-mindedness, nonconformity, hostility and impulsivity. The theory states that impulsivity is a part of one of the three main dimensions. A further study by S. G. B. Eysenck (1993) divided impulsivity into two factors: (1) impulsiveness, referring to unconscious risk taking and (2) venturesomeness, which can be described as conscious sensation seeking.

Gray (1987) proposed a two-dimensional model of personality and motivation in which impulsivity was based on the Behavioural Approach System (BAS) and anxiety on the Behavioural Inhibition System (BIS). Gray's definition states that impulsivity in BAS means a brain system underlying the tendency to seek out pleasant stimuli. Impulsivity in Gray's model is related to extraversion rather than psychoticism in Eysenck's model (Gray 1987).

A more recent psychobiological model of temperament and character by Cloninger (1987a) proposes three temperament dimensions: reward dependence (RD), harm avoidance (HA) and novelty seeking (NS). RD, proposed to be linked with norepinephrine levels, refers to a tendency to respond intensely to signals of reward, in particular to signals of social approval. HA may be associated with variations in 5-hydroxytryptamine (5-HT) (serotonin) levels and is characterized by inhibition and social withdrawal, shyness and slow adaptation to change. NS may be associated with variation in dopamine levels, with a tendency toward exploratory activity, intense excitement in response to novelty, impulsive decision making and active avoidance of monotony or frustration. Thus, in this model impulsivity is seen as a part of NS, which appears to be conceptually similar to Gray's BAS (Carver & White 1994).

Zuckerman introduced the trait of sensation seeking (Zuckerman 1984; Zuckerman et al. 1978), which overlaps impulsivity as introduced in models by Eysenck and Cloninger (Zuckerman & Cloninger 1996). Sensation seeking can be described as a tendency to seek exciting experiences. Zuckerman showed that sensation seeking appears to be genetically determined and biologically correlated (e.g. with high levels of gonadal hormones, monoamine oxidase (MAO) and augmenting of cortical-evoked potential) (Zuckerman 1984).

Dickmann (1990) emphasized that impulsivity has both dysfunctional and functional

components. Dysfunctional impulsivity is defined as a tendency to act with less forethought than most people of equal ability when this tendency is a source of difficulty. Functional impulsivity is defined as a tendency to act with relatively little forethought when such a style is optimal.

The Big Five Theory is a widely used personality theory and consists of five main factors: Openness, Agreeableness, Extraversion, Neuroticism and Conscientiousness (John et al. 1991). However, trait impulsivity is included as a subtrait in this personality model and some dimensions closely resemble impulsivity, e.g. conscientiousness in a reverse direction (Buss & Plomin 1975).

Finally, several empirical studies have examined the construct of impulsivity with psychometric techniques. Lecrubier et al. (1995) developed the Impulsivity Rating Scale (IRS), where impulsivity is measured by seven components: irritability, patienceimpatience, time to make decisions, capacity to pursue an activity, aggressiveness, control of responses and capacity to delay. Patton et al. (1995), in turn, divided impulsivity into three factors using data obtained with the Barrat Impulsiveness Scale (BIS-10): motor factor (acting without thinking), cognitive factor (making quick cognitive decisions) and non-planning factor (present orientation). The Karolinska Scales of Personality (KSP, Schalling, Edman & Åsberg 1983) is a major personality assessment instrument consisting of 15 independent subscales of personality, including the impulsivity subscale. A later view by Schalling et al. (1987) suggests that KSP contains five dimensions, in which impulsivity is one subscale, with other subscales such as sensation seeking and social withdrawal, covering different aspects of extraversion. Four factors were derived from a factor analysis of KSP items by af Klinteberg, Schalling & Magnusson (1986). Impulsivity was loaded on the same factor as monotony avoidance and negative socialization.

There is evidence suggesting that personality traits are reasonably stable over time. For example, personality traits measured with KSP, including impulsivity as a subscale, showed a high mean level stability and rank-order stability after 9 years for these traits (Gustavsson et al. 1997). For impulsivity, the stability coefficients were 0.70 and 0.60. In general, personality trait test-retest reliabilities are also higher in adulthood than in childhood, as indicated by the Big Five personality traits (Hampson & Goldberg 2006).

In summation, impulsivity can be described, defined and measured in several ways and there is no unitary impulsivity or only one type of impulsive behaviour. Evenden (1999) used the term varieties of impulsivity to describe these several related behavioural and cognitive factors, which are often classified together as impulsivity. However, it should be noted that impulsivity is a normal phenomenon and can also have positive outcomes such as boldness, quickness, spontaneity, courageousness or unconventionality, even though impulsivity is usually a term for maladaptive behaviour (Daruna & Barnes 1993).

Author and terms	Definition
H. J. Eysenck & M. W. Eysenck 1985.	Impulsivity is a part of the psychoticism personality
Personality theory of Extraversion, Neuroticism and	trait. Other personality traits include Extraversion and
Psychoticism.	Neuroticism.
Gray 1987.	Impulsivity in BAS proposed to be a brain system
Behavioural Approach System (BAS) and	underlying the tendency to seek out pleasant stimuli.
Behavioural Inhibition System (BIS). Cloninger 1987a.	Impulsivity is a subdimension of the temperament trait
Psychobiological model of temperament and	Novelty seeking.
character.	Novery seeking.
Zuckerman et al. 1978,	Sensation seeking, a tendency to seek exciting
Sensation seeking.	experiences, is similar to the concept of impulsivity
Dickmann 1993.	Dysfunctional impulsivity is defined as a tendency to
Functional and dysfunctional impulsivity.	act with less forethought than most people of equal
	ability when this tendency is a source of difficulty.
	Functional impulsivity is defined as a tendency to act
	with relatively little forethought when such a style is optimal.
Specification of impulsivity	opumai.
S. G. B. Eysenck 1993.	Impulsiveness is defined as unconscious risk taking.
Impulsiveness and venturesomeness.	and Venturesomeness as conscious sensation
···· P	seeking.
Lecrubier et al. 1995.	Impulsivity includes seven components: irritability,
Impulsivity rating scale (IRS).	patience-impatience, time to make decisions, capacity
	to pursue an activity, aggressiveness, control of
D // / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / / /	responses and capacity to delay.
Patton et al. 1995.	Impulsivity is divided into three factors: motor factor
Barrat Impulsiveness Scale (BIS-10).	(acting without thinking), cognitive factor (making quick cognitive decisions) and nonplanning factor
	(present orientation).
Schalling et al. 1987.	Impulsivity is characterized by a tendency to act on
Karolinska Scales of Personality.	the spur of the moment, without thinking about it so
	deeply, a tendency to get enthusiastic about new
	ideas that are dropped and forget to find out if there
	are any disadvantages and a self-appraisal of
	impulsivity.

Table 1. Definitions of impulsivity in different personality theories

# 1.2. Stress, impulsivity and health

There is some evidence that strong psychological stress may cause alteration in development of executive cognitive functions and emotional perception, which are adjusted by the brain's prefrontal cortex and limbic system (Arnsten & Shansky 2004; Moradi et al. 1999; Perry & Pollard 1998). These systems regulate behavioural inhibition, attention control, sensitivity to rewards and penalties, decision making and emotional regulation. Development and functioning of this neural network are sensitive to environmental factors, such as stress, and can lead to difficulties in executive cognitive functions and emotional regulatory skills, which may result in an inability to sustain attention, evaluate consequences and control impulsivity (Bremner 1999; Bremner et al. 1999; Steckler & Holsboer 1999).

Psychological stress is associated with several health outcomes and health behavioural factors. For example, there is some evidence linking stress with impaired sleep (Akerstedt 2006), alcohol drinking (Sillaber & Henniger 2004), smoking (Baker, Brandon & Chassin 2005), peptic ulcer disease (PUD) (Jones 2006), and depression (Kendler, Thornton & Gardner 2000; Kendler et al. 1999; Caspi et al. 2003). On the other hand, impulsivity has also been associated with health and health behavioural factors. Studies have reported associations of impulsivity with depression and mania in bipolar disorder (Swann et al. 2007), PUD (Feldman et al. 1986), smoking (Baker, Brandon & Chassin 2004), alcohol drinking (Hussong & Chassin 1994) and sleep (Ireland & Culpin 2006).

Taken together, stress has been associated with impulsivity, health-related behaviour and diseases, while evidence also suggests associations between impulsivity, health behaviour and diseases. However, systematic research of direct associations between impulsivity and health-related behaviour and diseases is largely lacking.

# 1.3. Impulsivity, smoking and alcohol consumption: previous findings

Personality and temperament may play a role in behaviour involving risk to health (Barefoot et al. 1989; Caspi et al. 1997; Cloninger 1987; Hoyle 2000). In terms of public health significance, cigarette smoking and heavy alcohol drinking are particularly important. Tobacco use causes an estimated 3 million annual deaths worldwide, of which 1.9 million occur in the developed world (World Health Organization (WHO) 1997). Half of all long-term regular smokers who begin smoking during adolescence can expect to die from tobacco use, and 50% of these die prematurely in middle age, losing 20-25 years of life expectancy compared with nonsmokers (Peto 2004). According to a recent WHO project, the Global Burden of Disease Study, alcohol accounts for a substantial amount of harm in the world (Rehm et al. 2004). Alcohol was estimated to have caused 1.8 million deaths or 3.2% of all deaths worldwide and almost half of these deaths (48%) were due to various alcohol-related diseases.

There is some evidence suggesting a relationship between impulsivity, smoking and alcohol consumption (Bergen & Caporaso 1999; Grau & Ortet 1999; Mitchell 1999; Mulder 2002; Lipcus et al. 1994; Waldeck and Miller 1997). For example, Grau & Ortet (1999) found that impulsivity assessed with the KSP was associated with increased alcohol consumption in a study of 149 nonalcoholics. Waldeck & Miller (1997) studied impulsivity and use of alcohol, nicotine and caffeine in their cross-sectional study of 332 students. They found that men with high impulsivity used alcohol and caffeine more than men with low impulsivity, no differences were seen for smoking. Among women, significant differences between high- and low- impulsivity groups were only found for alcohol intake and smoking. Lipcus et al. (1994), using a large, prospective database that impulsive personality predicted smoking status. Mitchell (1999) reported in her study with 40 nonclinical subjects that smokers were more impulsive than never smokers.

These studies suggest that cigarette smoking and alcohol consumption may be more common among impulsive subjects. However, the existing evidence is typically based on cross-sectional data that cannot exclude the possibility of reversed predictive relationships (i.e. health risk behaviour may predict increasing impulsivity rather than vice versa) and prior research has been insufficiently controlled for potential third factors, such as socioeconomic status, a strong correlate of health risk behaviour (Adler & Newman 2002). Furthermore, many previous studies were limited to clinical samples with poor generalization to healthy populations.

# 1.4. Impulsivity, sleep duration and insomnia: previous findings

There is some evidence supporting a link between stress and various sleep problems, and between impulsivity and stress. In considering this, the association between impulsivity and sleep is plausible. Sleep disturbances affect a wide part of the population and are therefore also a major public health issue. It has been estimated that 10-15% of the adult population suffers from chronic sleep disturbances and an additional 25-35 % from transient or occasional insomnia (Roth 2001). The APA (1994) defined insomnia "as having difficulty initiating or maintaining sleep or nonrestorative sleep, causing clinically significant distress or impairment in social, occupational or other important areas of functioning, not occurring exclusively during the course of another sleep disorder, not occurring exclusively during the course of a mental disorder, and not being due to the direct physiological effects of a substance or a general medical condition" (p. 553). The likelihood of insomnia is higher among older people (Ohayon, Zulley, Guilleminault, Smirne & Priest 2001), and other potential confounding factors associated with sleep disturbances has shown to be marital status, gender, socioeconomic status, shift work, obesity, depression, somatic illness, mental disorders and substance use (Fabsitz, Sholinsky & Goldberg 1997; Flemons 2002; Harvey 2001; Härmä et al. 2006; Ohayon et al. 2001; Sateia et al. 2000).

The association between impulsivity and insomnia has previously been examined in children and adolescents, especially in those with ADHD. For example, Ring et al. (1998) found that significantly more children with ADHD demonstrated single or multiple sleep disturbances as well as higher rates of specific sleep disorders such as initial and middle insomnia, compared with their siblings. Furthermore, Owens, Maxim, Nobile, MvGuinn & Msall (2000) reported that children with ADHD had significantly more disturbed sleep than

controls. The average sleep duration as reported by parents was significantly shorter in the ADHD group and children with ADHD also reported their own sleep to be more disturbed than controls. Finally, Ireland & Culpin (2006) found a significant association between increased impulsivity and decreased hours of sleep in a sample of juvenile and young offenders, measured by a self-report with BIS-10. However, research on impulsivity and insomnia in a nonclinical context is largely lacking.

# 1.5. Impulsivity and peptic ulcers: previous findings

Indirect evidence suggests that higher impulsivity may be associated with a greater risk of PUD, since some studies have reported a positive association between impulsivity and stress and other studies a positive association between stress and PUD. The idea that personality may be associated with ill health and even mortality was already stated in the 15<sup>th</sup> century (Lipowski 1984). While cardiovascular diseases have been the most intensively studied, PUD, a multifactorial disease, has also been the focus of study. Although Helicobacter pylori (H. pylori) is considered to be the main determinant of PUD, most people having H. pylori infection never develop PUD (Quan & Talley 2002). A number of studies have shown that environmental factors, such as the intake of nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs)(Kurata & Nogawa 1997), smoking (Martin et al. 1989), heavy alcohol consumption (Levenstein, Kaplan & Smith 1997), and psychosocial stress (Ellard et al. 1990) are also significant predictors of PUD. In mice, long-term stress resulted in gastric mucosal inflammation and erosion and this effect was suggested to occur independently of H. pylori infection (Kim, Lee & Lee 2002).

Previous data show that emotional disturbances and personality-related individual differences may also have an impact on the development of PUD. The results of Goodwin & Stein (2003) showed that neuroticism was associated with significantly increased risk for PUD when differences in sociodemographic characteristics, smoking, perception of poor health, comorbid mental disorders and physical illnesses were statistically controlled for. Other studies have suggested that other personality factors such as, generalized anxiety disorder (Goodwin & Stein 2002), hostility (Levenstein, Kaplan & Smith 1997) and

dependency (Magni et al. 1988) may predispose to PUD.

Few small-scale studies have examined the relationship between impulsivity and PUD. Feldman and co-workers (1986) showed with PUD patients and controls that personality disturbances, such as impulsivity, immaturity, feelings of social isolation and alienation, were more common in PUD patients than in controls. A further study by this group (Feldman et al. 1992) found that serum gastrin concentrations were related to the affective state in normal men and this relationship was altered in PUD. Temperamental impulsivity and social isolation were associated with more labile basal acid secretion rates, possibly predisposing to the development of PUD (Feldman et al. 1992), which is also associated with depression (Levenstein, Kaplan & Smith 1997). However, no evidence is available to test whether impulsivity can actually predict the onset of PUD in nonclinical populations.

# 1.6. Impulsivity and depression: previous findings

Depression is a severe disease, that may increase the risk of premature death (Carney et al. 2003), sickness absence (Druss et al. 2000) and impaired work capacity (Kessler et al. 2001). According to an estimate of the Global Burden of Disease Study, depression will account for 15 % of the disease burden in the world by 2020 (Murray & Lopez 1996). There is some evidence of factors related to depression, such as increasing age (Hasin, Goodwin, Stinson & Grant 2005), female gender (Fryer et al. 2004), lower socioeconomic status (Paykel 2003), lack of social support (Chen et al. 2005), smoking (Van Gool et al. 2003) and alcohol consumption (Perreira & Sloan 2002). In addition, environmental factors such as stressful life events involving threat, loss, humiliation and defeat, are associated with the incidence of depression (Brown 1998; Kendler et al. 1999; Kessler 1997; Pine et al. 2002).

Shared biological correlates have led to research on the potential relationships between impulsivity and depression. For example, depression was associated with underactivity of central 5-hydroxytryptamine (serotonin, 5-HT) transmission (Malison et al. 1998; Owens & Nemeroff 1998; Spreux-Varoquaux et al. 2001) and impulsivity was related to decreased 5-HT activity (Coccaro et al. 1989; Cremniter et al. 1999; Evenden 1999; Linnoila et al.

1983; Spreux-Varoquaux et al. 2001). Cremniter et al. (1999) reported a correlation between impulsivity and low levels of cerebrospinal fluid 5-hydroxy-indoleacetic acid (CSF-5-HIAA) in a sample of 23 suicide attempters. Spreux-Varoquaux et al. (2001) found in 27 suicide attempters that the plasma 5-HIAA levels were lower in impulsive suicide attempters than in non-impulsive suicide attempters, although these groups did not differ in regard to depression scales. In the same study, platelet 5-HT was associated with the intensity of depression and the lower plasma 5-HIAA concentration was inversely associated with the degree of impulsivity.

The majority of studies that have directly focused on impulsivity and depression have dealt with the effect of impulsivity on suicidality among depressed patients (e.g. Corruble et al. 2003; Corruble et al. 1999; Fawcett et al. 1987; Mann et al. 1999; Pezawas et al. 2002). In a longitudinal study by Pezawas et al. (2002), impulsivity was a major underlying risk factor for suicide in a depressed population. Corruble et al. (1999) found in their longitudinal study with 50 depressed in-patients that suicide attempters had significantly higher impulsivity scores than nonsuicide attempters at baseline and after a 4-week period of treatment. Both impulsivity and depression scores decreased in the 4-week treatment period throughout the sample. A later study by the same research group (Corruble et al. 2003) identified three dimensions of impulsivity in their study of 127 depressed in-patients: behavioural loss of control, nonplanning and cognitive impulsivity. Few studies have examined impulsivity and depressive symptoms in nonclinical populations. For example, Elovainio et al. (2004) showed in their prospective study with a 4-year follow-up that some subtraits of Cloningers psychobiological model, such as impulsiveness, shyness with strangers, fatigability, sentimentality and persistence were associated with increased risk of depressive symptoms independently of a variety of other known risk factors for depression. However, the researchers could not define a clinical cut- off point for depression and the sample was restricted to subjects 20-35 years of age at baseline.

There are phenotypic associations occurring in childhood and adolescence between constructs relating to impulsivity and depression. The association between impulsivity and depression has previously been examined with children and adolescents, especially with those with ADHD and conduct disorders. For example, Brodsky et al. (2001) found an association of childhood trauma and impulsivity with suicidal behaviour and major depression in adulthood. Cataldo, Nobile, Lorusso, Battaglia & Moltemi (2005) reported that some depressed children and adolescents were rated by their parents as significantly more impulsive or restless than controls. Furthermore, ADHD and conduct disorders include significant problems with impulse control. There are several studies reporting an association between depression and ADHD (Anderson, Williams, McGee & Silva 1987; Velez, Johnson & Cohen 1989) and depression and conduct disorders (McGee et al. 1990; Kashani et al. 1987) in child and adolescent studies (see for review Angold, Costello & Erkanli 1999).

Despite these associations, it remains unclear whether impulsivity is a predictor of the onset of depression in adulthood. Prior research on this issue has typically focused on the relationship between impulsivity and suicide in clinical populations or in samples of children or adolescents with ADHD or conduct disorders. In comparison to research on impulsivity and mental health among children, few studies have reported appropriate data with adults. Since prospective studies on nonclinical populations free of depression are largely lacking, previous research has also failed to address the question of temporal direction between impulsivity and depression. Further limitations in existing evidence include failure to use clinically defined cut offs, limited age range within adulthood and insufficient control for potential confounding factors. In summation, direct evidence for the relationship between impulsivity and depression in nonclinical populations is scarce.

# 1.7. Aims of the present study

To reduce many of the limitations in previous research on impulsivity, the present longitudinal study examined the relationship of impulsivity to smoking, alcohol consumption, insomnia, sleep duration, PUD and depression in a large, nonclinical sample of employees with a large age range.

The first aim of the study was to investigate the relationships of impulsivity with healthrelated behaviour, such as smoking status, initiation of smoking, smoking intensity and alcohol consumption, when potential confounding factors such as age, gender, education and socioeconomic status were adjusted for. We examined the association between impulsivity, insomnia and sleep duration when potential confounding factors were adjusted for. We hypothesized that higher impulsivity could predict higher consumption of alcohol and cigarettes as well as insomnia and short sleep duration after taking into account the baseline characteristics.

The second aim was to examine the association between impulsivity and incidence of newly diagnosed PUD and newly diagnosed depression. We hypothesized that impulsivity could predict the incidence of these diseases when potential confounding factors are controlled for. These include shift work, smoking, alcohol consumption, body mass index (BMI) and physical activity. We hypothesized that higher impulsivity could independently predict a higher risk of incident PUD and a higher risk of new-onset depression.

# 2. METHODS

# 2.1. Participants

Twelve hospitals in four of the 23 health districts in Finland volunteered to participate in the project 'Work and Health in Finnish Hospital Personnel' coordinated by the Finnish Institute of Occupational Health (Kivimäki, Elovainio & Vahtera 2000). Based on employers' registers, there were 10 968 employees 18-63 years of age working in these hospitals. They were asked to respond to a questionnaire on personality and health risk behaviour in 1998. The employees were informed of the study before responding to the questionnaire and the voluntariness of the response was highlighted. In all, 8107 employees (74%) responded to the first survey, and of these 6675 were working in the target hospitals two years later at the time of the second survey (81% of the eligible population at followup). The male respondents were from the following occupations at follow-up: 29% physicians, 32% nurses, 7% other professionals, 3% laboratory and x-ray staff, 7% administrative staff, and 22% in maintenance, cleaning and other supporting activities. In women, the occupational distribution was as follows: 3% physicians, 58% nurses, 4% other professionals, 7% laboratory and x-ray staff, 12% administrative staff, and 16% in maintenance, cleaning and other supporting activities. The sex distribution of this cohort is similar to that in Finnish hospitals in general (National Research and Development Centre for Welfare and Health (STAKES), 2004). The ethics committee of FIOH approved the Hospital Personnel study.

In the first study the associations between impulsivity, smoking and alcohol consumption were investigated (I) and in the fourth study the associations between impulsivity, insomnia and sleep duration (IV). The total number of subjects was 5433 (601 men, 4832 women) in both studies (I, IV). The respondents of the second study (II) were all those 4636 employees who responded to impulsivity, gender and age questions in the first survey and PUD questions in the first and second surveys and had no diagnosed PUD at baseline. The prevalence of lifetime PUD at baseline was 5.0% (383 cases among 7717

employees). Those subjects who did not work in the target hospitals or respond to the second survey, did not differ in impulsivity (p = .826) or prevalence of physician-diagnosed PUD (p = .278) at baseline from those who responded to both questionnaires. The third study was designed to investigate the associations between impulsivity and depression (III), and in the final cohort included all those 4505 employees (530 men and 3975 women) who had no physician-diagnosed depression and no missing data in questions of age, gender, impulsivity and depression at baseline. The prevalence of lifetime depression at baseline was 8.0% (632 cases among 7743 employees), however, lifetime depression was more common among dropouts (p = .039).

### 2.2. Assessment of impulsivity

Impulsivity was measured at time 1, using a five-item impulsivity scale derived from the KSP, a measure used both in clinical and nonclinical populations (af Klinteberg et al. 1987; Grau & Ortet 1999; Nordstrom et al. 1996; Schalling et al. 1987). The skewness of the scale was 0.975 and kurtosis 0.629. The scale was highly reliable (Cronbach's alpha = 0.88). Participants gave a self-assessment of their style of reacting in different situations on a four-point scale (1="does not describe me at all" to 4="describes me very well"). The items were as follows: "I have a tendency to act on the spur of the moment, without thinking about it so deeply", "I get very enthusiastic about new ideas and suggestions that I forget to find out if there are any disadvantages", "It often happens that I get involved in things a little too hastily", "I speak before I think what I am saying" and "I consider myself impulsive". We calculated the sum of the item scores and replaced missing values with the mean of the missing item (I, II, III, IV). The impulsivity scale was treated as a continuous variable in the study on smoking and alcohol consumption and in the study on insomnia and sleep duration (I, IV). In the study on PUD and depression (II, III), the impulsivity scale was further divided into quartiles for the analysis and treated as a categorical variable.

### 2.3. Assessment of smoking and alcohol consumption

In the study on smoking and alcohol consumption (I), smoking was assessed as the number of cigarettes smoked during an average day. In addition, we calculated pack-years based on questions requesting whether the respondent was a "never smoker", "former smoker" or "current smoker" and information on the age at which the respondent had begun smoking and quit smoking, as well as the number of cigarettes smoked in a day, were used to measure the number of cigarettes smoked per day. The number of pack-years was calculated as follows: the number of smoking years × number of cigarettes smoked per day divided by 20. This measurement was used in the studies on smoking and alcohol consumption and insomnia and sleep duration (I, IV). In the study on PUD (II), pack-years was treated as a three-level variable (0, 0.1-5 and > 5 pack-years, Kivimäki et al. 2004). In the study on depression (III), the measure of smoking distinguished smokers from nonsmokers. Smoking was assessed both at baseline and at follow-up.

Alcohol consumption (I, II, III and IV) was assessed with the alcohol questionnaire developed by Kaprio et al. (1987) at baseline and at follow-up. The questionnaire requests information on the frequency and quantity of alcohol consumed during an average week (or month), separately for beer, wine and spirits. A bottle of beer, a glass of wine or a single measure of spirits was taken as equivalent to 13 g of pure alcohol. For each type of beverage, consumption was converted into grams of pure alcohol and summed to yield an estimate of total consumption. From this estimate, we constructed a variable that measures alcohol consumption in grams of pure alcohol per week. This estimate was used as a continuous variable in the study on alcohol consumption and smoking and the study on insomnia and sleep duration (I, IV). In the study on PUD (II), alcohol consumption was divided into four categories (0 - 50, 51 - 100, 101 - 275 and > 275g pure alcohol per week, Vahtera et al. 2002). The cutoff- points for heavy alcohol consumption were 190g/week for women and 270g/week for men (Virtanen et al. 2002) in studies on smoking, alcohol consumption and depression (I, III).

#### 2.4. Assessment of sleep duration and insomnia

Sleep duration (IV) was measured with the question "How many hours do you normally sleep during the day and night?" (1 = 6 hours or less, 2 = 6.5 hours, ..., 9 = 10 hours or more). The responses were transformed into hours for analysis.

The four-item Jenkins Scale (Jenkins, Stanton, Niemcryk & Rose 1988) was used to indicate whether the participants had experienced sleep disturbances (IV) during the previous 4 weeks. The questions in the Jenkins scale concern "having trouble falling asleep", "waking up several times per night", "having trouble staying asleep" and "waking up after the usual amount of sleep feeling tired and worn out". Each of the items was rated on a six-point response scale (1 = never to 6 = every night). The first question identifies participants with sleep-onset insomnia, the second and third questions identify those with sleep-maintenance insomnia, and the last question determines those with unrefreshing sleep. The scales for sleep duration and insomnia were assessed as continuous variables and therefore cutoff- points were not used.

#### 2.5. Assessment of peptic ulcer

PUD was measured, using a self-administered checklist of common diseases (Kivimäki, Elovainio & Vahtera 2000; Kivimäki et al. 2003; Koskenvuo et al. 1988). For each disease, the respondent was asked to indicate whether or not a physician had diagnosed him or her as having the disease. The following question referred to PUD: "Has a physician told you that you have or have had peptic ulcer disease?". Incident cases of newly diagnosed PUD included respondents who had no missing data on the PUD question in either survey and who reported being diagnosed with this disease at follow-up in 2000 but not at baseline in 1998. Based on physician's interviews and objective medical measurements, the checklist of common chronic diseases is highly valid e.g. for coronary heart disease and asthma (Koskenvuo et al. 1988; Haapanen et al. 1997; Kilpeläinen et al. 2001), but specific validation studies for PUD are lacking.

# 2.6. Assessment of depression

Depression (III) was measured with a self-administered checklist of common diseases (Kivimäki et al. 2000; Kivimäki et al. 2003; Koskenvuo et al. 1988). For each disease, the respondent was asked to indicate whether or not a doctor had diagnosed him or her as having the disease. Incident cases of newly diagnosed depression included respondents who had no missing data on the depression question and who reported being diagnosed with this disease in 2000 but not in 1998. Based on physician's interview and objective medical measurements, the checklist of common chronic diseases is highly valid for coronary heart disease and asthma (Koskenvuo et al. 1988; Kilpeläinen et al. 2001). However, there are no validity tests available for depression.

### 2.7. Assessment of covariates at baseline

Demographic variables measured at baseline included gender (I,II, III, IV), age (I,II, III, IV), marital status (single or living with someone) (III, IV), education as indicated by an eight-point scale (1 = no occupational education, 2 = occupational course, 3 = indentured education or vocational school, 4 = college, short form, 5 = college, 6 = vocational high school or polytechnics, 7 = institution of higher education, 8 = university) (I, IV), salary (monthly income in Finnish marks) (I), and shift work, in which participants were dichotomized into those who worked in permanent day shift vs. those who worked in some other shift system (II, IV). In the studies on alcohol PUD and depression age was divided into three categories < 35, 35 - 45, > 45 years and education was divided into four levels (1 = no occupational education, occupational course, indenture education or vocational school, 2 = college, short form, 3 = college, 4 = university or high school) (II, III).

A subsidiary analysis was performed in relation to minor psychiatric morbidity (II, III, IV), a proxy measure for undiagnosed depression and other mental health disorders in nondiagnosed populations, using the well-validated 12-item version of the General Health Questionnaire (GHQ-12) (Goldberg & Williams 1988). In the questionnaire, participants gave a self-assessment of their mood and well-being on a four-point scale, e.g. "Have you

recently felt yourself as unhappy and depressed?", "Have you recently lost your selfconfidence?" and " Have you recently felt yourself as worthless?" Individuals scoring  $\geq 4$ were estimated to have mental distress according to studies validating GHQ-12 against standardized psychiatric interviews (Holi, Marttunen & Aalberg 2003) and this threshold was applied in the present study to identify people with minor psychiatric morbidity at baseline and follow-up.

The BMI was calculated from self-reported information on the participant's weight and height (kg/m<sup>2</sup>). In the study on PUD (II), the BMI was divided into three generally used levels: BMI < 25, BMI 25 - 30 and BMI > 30 kg/m<sup>2</sup> (Kopelman 2000; WHO 2002). In the study on sleep duration and insomnia (IV), the BMI was treated as a continuous variable. Physical activity was measured by asking participants to report how many hours they walk, walk fast, jog or run in 1 week. This leisure-time physical activity was transformed into metabolic equivalent task (MET) –hours/week (Tanasescu et al. 2002). The MET score was divided into quartiles in the study on PUD (II).

Social support (III, IV) was measured with Sarason's (Sarason, Shearin, Pierce & Sarason 1987) questionnaire (six items on a 6-point scale, range = 0 - 30) of social network size (Cronbach's alpha 0.82). In the questionnaire, the participants gave a self-assessment of people who could potentially help them when they were in need of support or help in different situations (spouse, relatives, close friends, colleagues, friends, or nobody). For example:"Who can you really trust when you want to forget your trouble when you are stressed?" and "Who can you really trust when you are sad and would like to feel better?" The number of positive answers was summed to describe the size of the social network (IV). The scale was further divided into quartiles in the study on depression (III).

Physician-diagnosed somatic disease, and depression and other psychiatric diseases were measured, using a self-administered checklist of common diseases (Kivimäki, Elovainio & Vahtera 2000; Koskenvuo et al. 1988) (IV). For each disease, the respondent was asked to indicate whether or not a physician had diagnosed him or her as having the disease. The responses were transformed into two dichotomous variables: to a somatic disease and to a depression and other psychiatric disease (IV).

### 2.8. Statistical analysis

We used linear regression analysis to investigate the relationship between impulsivity, smoking, alcohol consumption, sleep duration and insomnia (I, IV). We adjusted the models for age, gender, education, salary, smoking and baseline alcohol consumption (I). All analyses were performed using the SPSS 11.0 for Windows program.

Linear regression analysis was used to estimate the strength of the association between impulsivity, sleep duration and insomnia. The analysis was performed separately for men and women. Adjustments were made in five steps, for (1) age and marital status, (2) additionally for education and shift work, (3) additionally for life-style factors (smoking, alcohol consumption, physical activity and BMI), (4) additionally for psychosocial factors (minor psychiatric morbidity and social support), and (5) additionally for physician-diagnosed diseases (somatic disease and depression and other psychiatric disease at baseline). All analyses were performed using the SPSS 13.01 statistical program.

Logistic regression analysis was used to estimate the strength of the association between impulsivity and incidence of PUD (II). The odds ratios (ORs) for new physician-diagnosed PUD by levels of impulsivity were calculated. We adjusted ORs and their 95% confidence intervals (CIs) for demographics (age, gender, education and shift work), life-style factors (smoking status, alcohol use, BMI and physical activity) and mental health factors (minor psychiatric morbidity, depression and other psychiatric disease). All analyses were performed using the SPSS 12.0 for Windows program.

Logistic regression analysis was used to estimate the strength of the association between impulsivity and the incidence of physician-diagnosed depression (III). The adjusted ORs and their 95% CIs for new medically diagnosed depression for impulsivity were calculated. Adjustments were made for demographics (age, gender and education), life-style factors (smoking and heavy drinking) and social and psychological factors (social network size and minor psychiatric morbidity) at baseline. We replicated the analysis (III) using GHQ caseness (derived from minor psychiatric morbidity measure) as an outcome measure instead of diagnosed depression. Impulsivity and covariates were entered into logistic models as with the factor of medically diagnosed depression. All analyses were performed using the SPSS 12.0 for Windows program.

# 3. RESULTS

#### 3.1. Impulsivity, smoking, and alcohol consumption

The means, standard deviations (SDs), and bivariate correlations among demographic variables, smoking, alcohol consumption, and impulsivity are shown in Table 2 (I). Impulsivity was correlated with younger age, male sex and lower education. Higher impulsivity was also associated with higher numbers of cigarettes smoked and greater alcohol intake at Time 1 and Time 2. Smoking and alcohol consumption were intercorrelated and their Time 1 - Time 2 correlations were high. Smoking was more common and alcohol consumption greater in men, those with lower education, and those with lower salaries.

#### Table 2.

Means, standard deviations and Pearson correlations among variables.

Variable	Mean	SD	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
Time 1											
1. Age	43.3	8.4	-	02	10***	.12***	07***	02	.05***	03	.05***
2. Gender 1)	1.9	0.3		-	14***	40***	.07***	10***	35***	09***	31***
3. Education <sup>2)</sup>	5.4	1.6			-	.59***	05***	12***	.03*	13***	.03*
4. Salary <sup>3)</sup>	11037	3427				-	07***	06***	.16***	06***	.17***
5. Impulsivity	8.4	3.1					-	.06***	.06***	.06***	.06***
6. Smoking 4)	1.6	4.5						-	.18***	.89***	.19***
7. Alcohol cons	. <sup>5)</sup> 74.9	105.3							-	.17***	.63***
Time 2											
8. Smoking	1.5	4.4								-	.18***
9. Alcohol cons	. 74.7	115.6									-

N=4757 after listwise deletion

\*p<.05, \*\*<p.01, \*\*\*p<.001.

<sup>1)</sup> 1=men, 2=women. <sup>2)</sup> 1=not occupational education to 8=university. <sup>3)</sup> Finnish Marks per month. <sup>4)</sup> Cigarettes smoked per day. <sup>5)</sup> Grams of absolute alcohol in an average week.

Hierarchical linear regression models for smoking at Time 2 are shown in Table 3. Impulsivity at Time 1 was related to smoking at Time 2 in models controlled for the effects of age, gender, education and salary (Models 1 - 3). After controlling for the strong effect of smoking at Time 1, the predictive relationship between impulsivity at Time 1 and smoking at Time 2 became nonsignificant (Model 4, Adj.  $R^2 = .695$ ). We replicated these analyses using pack-years as the indicator of smoking instead of the number of cigarettes smoked daily. The results were essentially the same.

Variables	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4
at Time 1	Beta p	Beta p	Beta p	Beta p
Impulsivity	.06 <.001	.07 <.001	.06 <.001	.01 .134
Age		02 .134	03 .030	01 .240
Gender		08 <.001	19 <.001	01 .360
Education			13 <.001	02 .070
Salary			03 .106	00 .685
Smoking				.89 <.001

Table 3. Hierarchical linear regression models of smoking at Time 2.

N=4757

The association between impulsivity and smoking was dependent on gender (p for interaction .021), and therefore we also performed separate analyses for men (Table 4) and women (Table 5). In men, there was no relationship between impulsivity at Time 1 and smoking at Time 2 in any of the four models tested (Model 4, Adj.  $R^2 = .610$ ). In women, there was a significant relationship between impulsivity at Time 1 and smoking at Time 2 before adjustment for smoking at baseline. After this adjustment, the relationship was almost significant (p = .08, Adj. $R^2 = .694$ ).

Table 4. Hierarchical linear regression models for smoking at Time 2 in men.

Variables	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4
Time 1	Beta p	Beta p	Beta p	Beta p
Impulsivity	01 .729	02 .729	02 .663	01 .737
Age		01 .896	.07 .145	.02 .387
Education			.03 .650	.00 .997
Salary			20 .004	02 .525
Smoking				.87 <.001

Variables	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4
Time 1	Beta p	Beta p	Beta p	Beta p
Impulsivity	.08 <.001	.08 <.001	.08 <.001	.01 .078
Age		02 .102	05 .001	01 .072
Education			16 <.001	02 .061
Salary			.01 .793	01 .601
Smoking				.89 <.001
N=4538				

Table 5. Hierarchical linear regression models for smoking at Time 2 in women.

Hierarchical regression analyses for alcohol consumption are shown in table 6. The relationship between impulsivity at Time 1 and increased alcohol consumption at Time 2 remained statistically significant after controlling for demographic characteristics and alcohol consumption at Time 1 (p = .004, Adj.  $R^2 = .402$ ). The association between impulsivity and alcohol consumption was not dependent on gender (p for interaction .268).

Table 6. Hierarchical linear regression models of alcohol consumption at Time 2.

Variables	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4
at Time 1	Beta p	Beta p	Beta p	Beta p
Impulsivity	.04 <.001	.08 <.001	.08 <.001	.03 .004
Age		.05 <.001	.03 .019	.01 .420
Gender		32 <.001	29 <.001	09 <.001
Education			05 .006	03 .033
Salary			.08 <.001	.06 <.001
Alcohol cons.				.59 <.001

N=4757

During the follow-up, 57 participants took up smoking and 288 became heavy drinkers (as defined by alcohol consumption >280 g of pure alcohol in men and >190 g of pure alcohol in women). Impulsivity was significantly associated with increased likelihood of taking up smoking or becoming a heavy drinker (Beta = .04, p = .024) among participants who were nonsmokers or nonheavy drinkers at entry into the study.

# 3.2. Impulsivity, sleep duration and insomnia

Means, SDs and bivariate correlations for baseline characteristics, impulsivity and insomnia are shown in Tables 7 and 8. In men, the mean age was 44 years, mean smoking was 5.4 pack-years, alcohol consumption was 179 g pure alcohol per week, physical activity was MET 14.2 hours/week, social support was 10.8 persons and BMI was 25.4. In women, the mean age was 43 years, mean smoking was 2.3 pack-years, alcohol consumption was 62 g pure alcohol per week, physical activity was MET 12.5 hours/week, social support was 12.6 persons and BMI was 24.4 In men (IV), higher impulsivity was correlated with higher alcohol consumption, lower physical activity, somatic disease, shorter sleep duration, difficulties in falling asleep and waking up during the night (Table 7). In women, higher impulsivity was associated with lower age, lower education, higher smoking and greater alcohol consumption, higher rate of minor psychiatric morbidity and depression and other psychiatric disease, and with having trouble falling asleep and waking up feeling tired and worn out after the usual amount of sleep (Table 8).

After controlling for all baseline characteristics, higher impulsivity in men at Time 1 was significantly associated with shorter sleep duration and waking up several times per night at Time 2 (Table 9). In women, higher impulsivity at Time 1 was related to difficulties in falling asleep and waking up after the usual amount of sleep and feeling tired and worn out at Time 2 in steps 1 - 4 (Table 10). After additionally controlling for the effects of somatic and psychiatric diseases in step 5, these associations became nonsignificant.

Means, standard deviations and Pearson correlations among variables in men.	d Pearson	correla	tions a	nong v	ariable	s in me	n.												
Variable	Mean	ß	~i	e.	4.	5.		7. 8	80	ю Г	10.	11.	12. 1	13. 1	14.	15. 1	16. 1	17.	18.
Time 1																			
1. Age (years)	43.7	9.0	.16č	.20															60
2. Marital status	0. 0. 0. 0.	0.36		.18	, 06 - 06	- 03	- 07								·		·		с С
3. Equcation	2.0	0.																	90.
4. Shift work	1.36	0.48									·								05
<ol> <li>Smoking (pack-years)</li> <li>Alcohol consumption (g/week)</li> </ol>	5.4 179	10.3 199						06	.16	02 04 .0	0.00	.15° .10ª	8.8.		05 01 01	.09°		 06	4. 9. 96
7. Physical activity (MET-hours)	14.2	15.5					•		13 <sup>b</sup>	.20°	- 07	07		.10 <sup>a</sup> .1	.15 <sup>b</sup> .C	00	05	- 04	01
8. Body mass index (kg/m $^2$ )	25.4	3.3						'	ľ	01	-02	19°	03			. 80	. 70	03	4
9. Social support	10.8	5							'		-20°								.07
10. Minor psychiatric morbidity	0.2	0.4										.09 <sup>a</sup>	. 08	8	.05	88	.23°	.19°	.29°
11. Somatic disease	1.47	0.5										<u>.</u>	· · 60	.10 <sup>a</sup>	05 .1	10 <sup>a</sup>			.14 <sup>b</sup>
12. Depression and other psychiatric diseases	1.1	0.3											<u>.</u>	-	 00	60	.13 <sup>b</sup> .	.13 <sup>b</sup> .	.15°
13. Impulsivity	7.8	2.7												ŕ	10 <sup>a</sup> .1	.10 <sup>a</sup>	.12 <sup>b</sup>	- 10 -	03
Time 2																			
14. Sleep duration	7.09	0.64												1	ŕ	15° -	19° -	19 <sup>°</sup> -	16°
15. Having trouble falling asleep	1.9	1.1													'	-:			$43^{\circ}$
16. Waking up several times per nicht	2.5	1.4														'	•	69°	52°
17. Having trouble staying asleep	2.2	1.4															'	•	54°
<ol> <li>Waking up after the usual amount of sleep and feeling tired and worn out</li> </ol>	2.6	1.3																	

Table 7.

Men, N=520 after listwise deletion.  ${}^{a}p<0.05$ ,  ${}^{b}p<0.01$ ,  ${}^{c}p<0.001$ .

Means, standard deviations and P	rearson correlations among variables in women	orrelati	ons an	nong va	riables	now n	nen.												
Variable	Mean	ß	~i	ю	4	ۍ.	G	7.	σċ	ஏ	10.	<u>+</u>	12.	13.	14.	15.	16.	17.	18.
<u>Time 1</u> 1. Age (years)	42.9	8.4	.02	14°		.09°	.03 <sup>a</sup>		.19°	11°	.05 <sup>b</sup>	.23	.07°	 08°		.10°	.18°	.20°	03
2. Marital status 3. Education	1.8 5.4	0.42 1.5	·	. 04	.00 05	15°	<u>6</u> 6		 13° -	4 4 2 4		- 00°	- 08°	- 6.		04° 06°	01 06	05 <sup>b</sup>	03 .01
4. Shift work	1.58	0.49				-00	04 <sup>a</sup>		.02	.05 <sup>°</sup>	02	07°	03 <sup>a</sup>	.01		.07°	.02	01	0 <sup>°</sup>
<ol> <li>Smoking (pack-years)</li> <li>Alcohol consumption (g/week)</li> </ol>	2.3 62	5.6 79				1	.16č	04° .02	.00° .00°	 .6 <sup>-</sup> .67	.05 <sup>5</sup>	.08 02	.10č 06°	.07° .10°	07° 05 <sup>b</sup>	.08 .06	.06 <sup>b</sup>	.06 .06	.05° .06°
7. Physical activity (MET-hours)	12.5	12.1							17 <sup>c</sup>		05 <sup>b</sup>	05 <sup>b</sup>	.04 <sup>a</sup>	.03		02	03	03	04 <sup>a</sup>
8. Body mass index (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	24.4	3.9								02	02	.14°	.07°	.02		.06 <sup>b</sup>	60.	°00.	.01
9. Social support	12.6	5.2									12°	05 <sup>b</sup>	08°	03	.03	07°	05 <sup>b</sup>	05 <sup>b</sup>	07 <sup>c</sup>
10. Minor psychiatric morbidity	0.2	0.4										.09°	.20°	.08°		.22°	.18°	.21°	.24°
11. Somatic disease	1.52	0.5											.13°	.03	0		.18 <sup>5</sup>	.18°	.14°
12. Depression and other psychiatric	1.1	0.3											,	.06°	02	.14°	.12°	.14°	.15°
13. Impulsivity	8.4	3.15													.03	.06 <sup>b</sup>	.02	.03	.06°
Time 2																			
14. Sleep duration	7.2	0.71														18 <sup>c</sup>	16°	23°	18°
15. Having trouble falling asleep	2.0	1.2														,	.51°	.57°	.45 <sup>c</sup>
16. Waking up several times per nicht	2.7	1.5																.68°	.49°
17. Having trouble staying asleep	2.2	1.4																	.50°
18. Waking up after the usual	2.7	1.4																	
amount of sleep and feeling tired and worn out																			

Means, standard deviations and Pearson correlations among variables in women.

Table 8.

N=3808 after listwise deletion.  ${}^{a}p<0.05$ ,  ${}^{b}p<0.01$ ,  ${}^{c}p<0.001$ .

Impulsivity	Sleep duration	ation	Having tro	Having trouble falling	Waking u	Waking up several	Having tr	Having trouble staying	Waking u	Waking up after the
at time 1			asleep		times per night	r night	asleep		usual amo	usual amount of sleep
									and feelin	and feeling tired and
									worn out	
	Beta	ď	Beta	ď	Beta	ď	Beta	ď	Beta	ď
Impulsivity adjusted for age and marital status	-0.09	0.023	60:0	0.034	0.13	0.002	0.05	0.212	0.02	0.601
+ education and shift work	-0.10	0.011	0.09	0.026	0.12	0.003	0.05	0.259	0.02	0.679
+ smoking, alcohol consumption, physical activity and body mass index	-0.12	0.006	0.07	660.0	0.12	0.004	0.03	0.434	0.02	0.734
+ social support, minor psychiatric morbidity	-0.12	0.006	0.07	0.119	0.11	0.006	0.03	0.555	0.00	0.998
+ somatic disease and depression with any other psychiatric disease	-0.12	0.008	0.07	0.092	0.11	0.008	0.03	0.426	-0.01	0.854

sesion analysis of associations between immilisivity at Time 1 and sleen disturbances at Time 2 in men \$ Hierarchical line

Table 9.

al times per night; N = 533 Adj. $R^2 = .068$ , for having trouble staying asleep; and N = 532, Adj. $R^2 = .106$  for waking up after the usual amount of sleep feeling tired and worn out.

Impulsivity	Sleep duration	liallui	паving u		vvaking	waking up several	Having t	naving trouble staying	vaniigu	waking up atter the
at time 1			asleep		times per night	sr night	asleep		usual am	usual amount of sleep
									and feelir	and feeling tired and
									worn out	
	Beta	ď	Beta	ď	Beta	ď	Beta	ď	Beta	d
Impulsivity adjusted for age and marital status	00.0	0.957	0.06	0.000	0.04	0.007	0.05	0.001	0.06	0.000
+ education and shift work	0.01	0.703	0.05	0.000	0.04	0.014	0.05	0.002	0.06	0.000
+ smoking, alcohol consumption, physical activity and body mass index	0.02	0.143	0.05	0.002	0.03	0.052	0.04	0.020	0.06	0.000
+ social support, minor psychiatric morbidity	0.03	0.109	0.03	0.037	0.02	0.209	0.02	0.139	0.04	0.011
+ somatic disease and depression with any other psychiatric disease	0.03	0.080	0.03	0.077	0.01	0.518	0.01	0.482	0.03	0.061

Hierarchical linear recreacion analysis of associations between immulsivity at Time 1 and sleen disturbances at Time 2 in women

Table 10.

N=3938,  $Adj.R^{2}=.104$  for having trouble staying asleep; N=4002,  $Adj.R^{2}=.087$  for waking up after the usual amount of sleep feeling tired and worn out.

### 3.3. Impulsivity and peptic ulcers

Of the 4636 participants (533 men, 4106 women), 89 reported newly diagnosed PUD in the follow-up survey (II). The 2-year incidence for PUD was 1.9%. The mean age was 43.6 (range 19 – 62) years, 55% had college as the basic education and 43% worked in permanent day shift. A total of 9% had smoked 5 pack-years or more, about 4% consumed pure alcohol > 275 g/week, 9% were obese, as indicated by a BMI > 30 kg/m<sup>2</sup>, 20% had minor psychiatric morbidity and 7% had a history of physician-diagnosed depression or other psychiatric disorder at baseline.

Table 11 presents the relationships between baseline characteristics and incidence of PUD. Increased risk of PUD was significantly associated with minor psychiatric morbidity and nonsignificantly associated with older age, male gender, higher BMI, smoking and a history of depression or other psychiatric disease. No association was found with education, alcohol consumption or physical activity.

Table 12 shows the results of multiple regression models for the association between impulsivity and incident newly diagnosed PUD. After adjustment for age, gender and education, belonging to the highest impulsivity quartile, compared with belonging to the lowest quartile, was associated with a 2.42- fold increased risk of incident PUD (model 1). Further adjustments for lifestyle factors (model 2) and mental health (model 3) had little effect on this association (Nagelkerke  $R^2 = .037$ ).

Baseline characteristics	Ν	Odds ratio (95% CI)	
Age			
< 35	823	1.00	
35 – 45	1885	1.96 (0.95 - 4.06)	
> 45	1928	1.92 (0.93 - 3.97)	
Gender			
Men	533	1.00	
Women	4103	0.69 (0.39 - 1.23)	
Education			
Less than college	704	1.00	
College, short form	821	0.69 (0.33 - 1.45)	
College	2547	0.84 (0.48 - 1.49)	
University or high school	512	0.77 (0.34 - 1.76)	
Working schedule			
Day work	2006	1.00	
Shift work	2611	0.90 (0.59 - 1.37)	
Smoking (pack-years)			
0	3101	1.00	
0.1-5	702	0.73 ( 0.37 - 1.44)	
>5	644	1.29 (0.74 - 2.26)	
Alcohol consumption*			
0-50 g	2216	1.00	
51-100 g	1390	1.05 (0.64 - 1.72)	
101-275 g	791	1.10 (0.61 - 1.96)	
>275 g	191	1.14 (0.40 - 3.20)	
Body mass index (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )			
<25	2853	1.00	
25-30	1306	1.18 (0.74 - 1.90)	
>30	409	1.41 (0.71 - 2.79)	
Physical activity (MET score)			
Quartile 1 (low)	1038	1.00	
Quartile 2	1248	1.21 (0.66 - 2.21)	
Quartile 3	1112	1.30 (0.71 - 2.40)	
Quartile 4 (high)	1162	0.94 (0.49 - 1.81)	

 Table 11.

 Associations between baseline characteristics and incidence of PUD.

(continued)

Table 11. (continued)	Ν	Odds Ratio (95% CI)
Minor psychiatric morbidity		
No	3697	1.00
Yes	939	2.25 (1.45 - 3.50)
Diagnosed depression or other psychiatric disorder		
No	4307	1.00
Yes	322	1.15 (0.53 - 2.50)

Respondents with PUD at baseline were excluded from the analysis. \* Pure alcohol in grams consumed during one week.

### Table 12.

Odds ratios (95% confidence intervals) of newly diagnosed ulcer disease by levels of baseline characteristics and impulsivity among participants with no diagnosed ulcer disease at baseline.

Characteristics	Ν	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3
Age				
< 35	760	1.00	1.00	1.00
35 – 45	1730	2.09 (1.01 - 4.36)	2.16 (0.99 - 4.70)	2.18 (1.00 - 4.75)
> 45	1725	1.98 (0.94 - 4.18)	1.84 (0.83 - 4.09)	1.80 (0.81 - 4.01)
Gender				
Men	490	1.00	1.00	1.00
Women	3725	0.56 (0.30 - 1.06)	0.53 (0.26 - 1.06)	0.52 (0.26 - 1.05
Education				
Less than college	623	1.00	1.00	1.00
College, short form	747	0.70 (0.33 - 1.49)	0.84 (0.38 - 1.83)	0.83 (0.38 - 1.82
College	2366	0.91 (0.51 - 1.64)	0.94 (0.50 - 1.77)	0.94 (0.50 - 1.77
University or high school	479	0.63 (0.26 - 1.51)	0.67 (0.27 - 1.69)	0.66 (0.26 - 1.64
Working schedule				
Day work	1857	1.00	1.00	1.00
Shift work	2358	0.91 (0.58 - 1.44)	0.83 (0.51 - 1.33)	0.83 (0.51 - 1.33
Smoking (pack-years)				
0	2937		1.00	1.00
0.1-5	670		0.78 (0.40 - 1.56)	0.78 (0.39 - 1.55
>5	608		1.25 (0.69 - 2.26)	1.24 (0.69 - 2.25
Alcohol consumption*				
0-50 g	2059		1.00	1.00
51-100 g	1274		1.08 ( 0.64 - 1.82)	1.08 (0.64 - 1.82
101-275 g	707		1.08 ( 0.57 - 2.04)	1.06 (0.56 - 2.00
>275 g	175		0.88 (0.29 - 2.69)	0.82 (0.27 - 2.53)
Body mass index (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )				
<25	2649		1.00	1.00
25-30	1192		0.92 (0.54 - 1.55)	0.94 (0.56 - 1.59)
>30	374		1.39 (0.68 - 2.84)	1.39 (0.68 - 2.84) (continued

Table 12. (continued)	N	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3
Physical activity (MET score)				
Quartile 1 (low)	945		1.00	1.00
Quartile 2	1156		0.98 (0.52 - 1.87)	0.99 (0.52 - 1.88)
Quartile 3	1031		1.27 (0.68 - 2.37)	1.32 (0.70 - 2.48)
Quartile 4 (high)	1083		0.88 (0.44 - 1.75)	0.92 (0.46 - 1.82)
Minor psychiatric morbidity				
No	3347			1.00
Yes	868			2.08 (1.29 - 3.35)
Diagnosed depression or other psychiatric disorder				
No	3918			1.00
Yes	297			0.96 (0.43 - 2.16)
Impulsivity				
Low	908	1.00	1.00	1.00
Intermediate	2420	1.54 (0.82 - 2.92)	1.41 (0.74 - 2.69)	1.39 (0.73 - 2.65)
High	887	2.42 (1.21 - 4.82)	2.18 (1.07 - 4.43)	2.06 (1.01 - 4.18)

\*Pure alcohol in grams consumed during one week. Model 1= 87 PUD-incident case (N=4565)

Model 2 = 80 PUD-incident case (N=4222) Model 3 = 80 PUD-incident case (N=4215).

### 3.4. Impulsivity and depression

Of the 4505 participants (530 men, 3975 women), 211 reported newly diagnosed depression in the follow-up survey (III). The 2-year incidence for depression was 4.7%. The mean age was 42.9 (range 19 - 62, SD = 8.4) years, 55% had college as the basic education and 88% of the participants were women. A total of 9% of the participants were heavy drinkers and about 14% were current smokers, 20% had minor psychiatric morbidity at baseline. The mean size of the social network was 12 (SD = 5) persons.

Table 13 presents the relationships between the baseline characteristics and incidence of depression. Increased risk of depression was significantly associated with smoking, heavy drinking and mental distress. A large social network was associated with a lower risk of depression. No association was found with age, sex and education.

### Table 13.

Odds ratios (95% confidence intervals) of newly diagnosed depression by baseline characteristics of employees with no history of depression at entry into the study.

Baseline characteristics	Ν	Odds ratio (95% CI)
Age		
< 35	817	1.00
35 – 45	1838	1.12 (0.75 - 1.68)
> 45	1856	1.20 (0.80 - 1.80)
Gender		
Men	530	1.00
Women	3975	0.76 (0.52 - 1.13)
Education		
Less than college	679	1.00
College, short form	797	1.28 (0.80 - 2.04)
College	2490	0.91 (0.60 - 1.37)
University or high school	484	1.24 (0.73 - 2.10)
Smoking		
Nonsmokers	3718	1.00
Current smokers	615	1.57 (1.10 - 2.24)
Alcohol consumption		
Other drinkers	4076	1.00
Heavy drinkers	385	1.54 (1.01 - 2.36)
Minor psychiatric morbidity		
No mental distress	3658	1.00
Mental distress	847	2.93 (2.20 - 3.91)
Size of social network		
Quartile 1 (low)	1131	1.00
Quartile 2	869	0.74 (0.49 - 1.10)
Quartile 3	1286	0.71 (0.50 - 1.02)
Quartile 4 (high)	1201	0.65 (0.45 - 0.95)

Cut off points for heavy alcohol consumption were 190 g/week for women and 270 g/week for men.

Table 14 presents results regarding the associations between impulsivity and the incidence of depression. After adjustment for age, sex and education (Model 1), the odds of depression were 1.95 (95% CI = 1.28 - 2.97) times higher for the highest quartile of impulsivity than for the lowest quartile. The association remained statistically significant after additional adjustment for smoking, heavy drinking (Model 2), minor psychiatric morbidity and the size of the social network (Model 3, Nagelkerke R<sup>2</sup> = .051).

We then repeated the analysis, using GHQ-12 cases rather than medically diagnosed depression as the outcome. Comparison with the previous analysis should indicate the specificity of the association patterns and, hence, the validity of the predictive association between impulsivity and depression. After adjustment for age, sex, education, smoking, heavy drinking, GHQ-12 and the size of social network at baseline, the odds of GHQ-caseness at follow-up were 1.26 (95% CI = 1.02 - 1.56) times higher for the highest quartile of impulsivity than for the lowest quartile. The OR between GHQ-12 caseness and doctor-diagnosed depression was 2.93 (95% CI = 2.20 - 3.91), confirming the link between these conceptually overlapping constructs.

Characteristics	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3
Age			
< 35	1.00	1.00	1.00
35 – 45	1.14 (0.75 - 1.71)	1.11 (0.73 - 1.69)	1.10 (0.72 - 1.68)
> 45	1.22 (0.81 - 1.84)	1.18 (0.77 - 1.80)	1.11 (0.72 - 1.70)
Gender			
Men	1.00	1.00	1.00
Women	0.76 (0.50 - 1.17)	0.83 (0.53 - 1.30)	0.85 (0.54 - 1.33)
Education			
Less than college	1.00	1.00	1.00
College, short form	1.30 (0.81 - 2.08)	1.25 (0.76 - 2.06)	1.29 (0.78 - 2.14)
College	0.96 (0.63 - 1.46)	1.03 (0.66 - 1.59)	1.06 (0.68 - 1.65)
University or high school	1.23 (0.71 - 2.15)	1.36 (0.76 - 2.43)	1.35 (0.75 - 2.42)
Smoking			
Nonsmokers		1.00	1.00
Current smokers		1.46 (1.01 - 2.12)	1.50 (1.03 - 2.19)
Alcohol consumption			
Other drinkers		1.00	1.00
Heavy drinkers		1.35 (0.86 - 2.11)	1.31 (0.83 - 2.05)
Minor psychiatric morbidity			
No mental distress			1.00
Mental distress			2.62 (1.93 - 3.56)
Size of social network			
Quartile 1 (low)			1.00
Quartile 2			0.82 (0.54 - 1.26)
Quartile 3			0.73 (0.49 - 1.09)
Quartile 4 (high)			0.77 (0.51 - 1.15)
Impulsivity			
Quartile 1 (low)	1.00	1.00	1.00
Quartile 2	0.78 (0.48 - 1.26)	0.82 (0.50 - 1.33)	0.83 (0.51 - 1.35)
Quartile 3	1.51 (1.00 - 2.26)	1.44 (0.94 - 2.19)	1.42 (0.93 - 2.17)
Quartile 4 (high)	1.95 (1.28 - 2.97)	1.82 (1.17 - 2.82)	1.70 (1.09 - 2.65)

**Table 14.** Odds ratios (95% confidence intervals) of newly diagnosed depression by levels of impulsivity among participants with no diagnosed depression at baseline.

Respondents with depression at baseline were excluded from the analysis.

Cut off points for heavy alcohol consumption were 190 g/week for women and 270 g/week for men.

## 4. DISCUSSION

The present 2-year follow-up study showed that impulsivity was associated with healthrelated behaviours and physician-diagnosed diseases in a cohort of hospital employees. Impulsivity predicted an increase in smoking in women and increase in drinking in both genders and the likelihood of taking up smoking or becoming a heavy drinker was higher in impulsive individuals than in others (I). Furthermore, higher impulsivity was significantly associated with shorter sleep duration and waking up several times per night in men (IV) but not in women. Finally, impulsivity was predictive of new-onset PUD (II) and an increased likelihood of new-onset depression (III) among employees who were free from these diseases at entry into the study.

### 4.1. Impulsivity, health behaviour and sleep

The present results on impulsivity, smoking and alcohol consumption are in line with previous studies based on cross-sectional data and smaller sample sizes (Labouvie & McGee 1986; Lipcus et al. 1994; Mulder 2002; Waldeck & Miller 1997) and the results of associations between impulsivity and insomnia support those of previous studies, which in turn were mostly done with children and adolescents (Ireland & Culpin 2006; Owens, Maxim, Nobile, MvGuinn & Msall 2000; Ring et al. 1998). This represents the first time when these associations were shown for large bodies of nonclinical follow-up data.

### **Gender differences**

It is unclear why gender differences regarding impulsivity, health behavior (I) and sleep disturbances exist (IV). For women, there was some evidence suggesting that somatic diseases, depression and comorbid psychiatric conditions may mediate the association between impulsivity and some aspects of insomnia. Firstly, there were significant positive correlations of impulsivity, somatic disease and depression with prevalence of minor psychiatric morbidity in women. Secondly, the significance level for the association between impulsivity and having trouble in falling asleep and difficulties in waking up after the usual amount of sleep and feeling tired and worn out decreased when the effect of somatic disease, depression and other psychiatric disease was controlled for. A corresponding pattern was not seen in men. Thus, impulsive personality may be more directly associated with insomnia in men while in women some aspects of insomnia may be dependent on general somatic and psychiatric well-being. Voderholzer et al. (2003) suggested that gender differences in insomnia could be related to the prevalence of anxiety and depression, which are more common among women than among men. In addition, HA is correlated with depression (Grucza, Przybeck, Spitznagel & Cloninger 2003), which was associated with insomnia (Saint Hilaire, Straub & Pelissolo 2005), and women tend to score higher on HA than men (Hansenne, Delhez & Cloninger 2005). Furthermore, in women, the significant relationship between impulsivity at baseline and smoking at followup became nonsignificant after controlling for smoking at baseline (I). Since the distribution occupations differed between genders, the differences in occupational background may have impacted the results, even though the socioeconomic status in forms of education (I, II, III, IV) and salary (I) were controlled for. For example, the largest occupational group in men was physicians (29%) and in women the largest group was nurses (58%), showing a clear segregation in occupations.

All these results suggest that impulsivity is only one potential factor behind health risk behaviour. Smoking, drinking and insomnia may also cause impulsivity, even though we found that those who became heavy drinkers or took up smoking or had sleep disturbances scored significantly higher in impulsivity.

#### Potential mechanism linking impulsivity with health behaviour and sleep

It is unclear why impulsivity contributes to health behaviour, such as smoking and alcohol consumption. Cloninger et al. (1991, 1993) reported that trait impulsivity is part of NS, which implies a low threshold for new stimuli in triggering behavioural responses for an impulsive person. Dickman (1990) showed that dysfunctional impulsivity is a type that

causes negative consequences. Compared with other persons, individuals scoring high on dysfunctional impulsivity may think less of the consequences before they act. Such lower thresholds for acting may partially explain our observation of the increased likelihood of smoking and heavy drinking in impulsive individuals. Moreover, there may be personality differences in developing addiction to nicotine and alcohol. Thus, those who score high in impulsivity may not only begin to use addictive substances more easily than others but also continue to use these substances. Moreover, the result that impulsivity predicts sleep disturbances (IV) is also in line with previous findings of the association between 5-HT, insomnia and impulsivity. Impulsivity is related to decreased serotonin levels (Linnoila et al. 1983; Spreux-Varoquaux et al. 2001), and there is also evidence that decreased serotonin could be involved in sleep (Singareddy & Balon 2001; Voderholzer et al. 1998). These previous findings are in accordance with present results and emphasize that the existence of an underlying biological factor may be related to underactivity of serotonin function.

# 4.2. Impulsivity and the onset of physician-diagnosed PUD and depression

In the present study, impulsivity was predictive of an increased likelihood of newly diagnosed depression among hospital employees who were free from diagnosed PUD (II) and depression (III) at study entry. These relationships could not be explained by other risk factors such as age, education, shift work, smoking, heavy alcohol consumption and psychiatric morbidity. Dropouts did not differ in the prevalence of PUD or in the level of impulsivity at baseline, compared with those who responded in both questionnaires; thus selection bias is an unlikely explanation for these findings. Further analysis using the GHQ as an outcome measure of minor psychiatric morbidity yielded similar findings: the risk of minor psychiatric morbidity was significantly higher among impulsive employees than their nonimpulsive counterparts. The results are in line with previous clinical studies and studies of young adults (Corruble, Benyamina, Bayle, Falissard & Hardy 2003; Corruble et al. 1999; Elovainio et al. 2004).

Few small-scale cross-sectional studies have examined the relationship between impulsivity and PUD. Feldman et al. (1986) reported with male PUD patients and controls that PUD subjects had significantly higher Minnesota Multiphasic Personality Inventory (MMPI) scores for impulsivity. Further study by this research group (Feldman et al. 1992) reported with a small sample of PUD subjects and controls (N = 15) that personality traits including high levels of impulsivity were associated with more labile basal acid secretion rates. The present study is the first large-scale prospective study on the association between impulsivity and PUD. Even though the association between impulsivity and depression has been well documented in children and adolescents with ADHD as well as in small clinical samples of impulsivity and depression, this is apparently the first time these relationships have been reported for a large working population.

Previous studies have found a relationship between depression and PUD (Levenstein, Kaplan & Smith 1997). Levenstein et al. (1996) also reported that depressiveness and life stress were associated with poorer prognosis in PUD. In addition, there is evidence for an association between impulsivity and depression (Steiger et al. 2001; Fergus et al. 2003; Swann et al. 2003), which supports the present results (III). This raises the possibility that increased risk of PUD among impulsive individuals is attributable to the effects of depression on PUD. However, present study shows the results of an association between impulsivity and depression, suggesting that associations between impulsivity and depression and PUD, because in the present study the odds for this association did not attain statistical significance (II).

# Stress response as the link between impulsivity, PUD, depression, health behaviour and sleep

The mechanisms linking impulsivity with PUD, depression, health behaviour and sleep are unknown, but in all cases stress may play a role. Psychological stress is associated with stress and impaired sleep (Akerstedt 2006), stress and alcohol drinking (Sillaber & Henniger 2004), stress and smoking (Baker, Brandon and Chassin 2005), stress and PUD

(Jones 2006), and stress and depression (Kendler, Thornton and Gardner 2000; Kendler et al. 1999; Caspi et al. 2003). Increased risk-taking among impulsive people is a source of stress and research also reports an association between impulsivity and posttraumatic stress disorder (Kotler et al. 2001). Previous studies suggest that stress may play a role in the development of ulcers. An increase in PUD was found after the Kobe earthquake, (Aoyama, Kinoshita & Fujimoto 1998). Being a prisoner of war results in increased risk for developing PUD (Nice et al. 1996). Concrete life stressors (Levenstein, Kaplan & Smith 1997) and self-perceived stress (Anda et al. 1992) can also predict the incidence of PUD. Helicobacter pylori infection is usually present in PUD and the effect of stress and infection is often considered as additive. However, stress may also interrelate with H. pylori infection as an independent aetiological agent (Lewin & Lewis 1995). In line with this, a recent study showed that poor socioeconomic status, a proxy measure of greater life stress, may increase the risk of PUD independently of H. pylori infection (Rosenstock et al. 2004). The present prospective study suggests that impulsivity may be a risk factor for the development of PUD, and this effect appears to be independent of several other risk factors, such as low level of education, health-risk behaviours and depression.

Environmental factors such as stressful life events involving threat, loss, humiliation and defeat, are associated with the incidence of depression (Brown 1998; Kendler, Karkowski & Prescott 1999; Kessler, 1997; Pine, Cohen, Johnson & Brook 2002). Kendler et al. (1999) showed that stressful life events have a causal relationship with episodes of major depression and Pine et al. (2002) found a relationship between life events in adolescence and the onset of major depression in early adulthood. The diathesis-stress theory of depression (e.g. Kwon & Laurenceau 2002) suggests that people with negative attributional style in stressful situations are at greater risk of depression. Impulsive individuals may also be more prone to run into adverse life events that in turn act as triggers for depression. The link between nature and nurture may partly be explained by temperament (including impulsivity), which has its roots in genetic endowment (Rothbart, Ahadi & Evans 2000), but also affects how individuals adapt to the demands of their environment, e.g. stressful life events. Thus, impulsive and nonadapting temperament style may indirectly increase the vulnerability to depression. That impulsivity may be a symptom of depression cannot totally be excluded. There is some evidence for an association between impulsivity in suicidality among depressed patients (Fawcett et al. 1987; Mann et al. 1999; Pezawas et al. 2002; Corruble et al. 2003). Corruble et al. (1999) reported that suicide attempters had significantly higher impulsivity scores than nonsuicide attempters both at baseline and after a 4-week period of treatment. Both impulsivity and depression scores decreased in a 4-week period of treatment throughout the sample, suggesting a close association between the two.

Stress and sleep problems were associated in several studies (e.g. see the review by Akerstedt 2006). In particular, the anticipation of high demands or effort during the following day appears to impair sleep. An association between stress and shortened sleep is also a well-known result. Furthermore, heavy alcohol drinking (Sillaber & Henniger 2004), and tobacco smoking (Baker, Brandon & Chassin 2004) are associated with higher levels of stress in some but not in all studies (Siegrist & Rödel 2006). Since stress may lead to difficulties in executive cognitive functions and emotional regulatory skills, causing inability to sustain attention, evaluate consequences and control impulsivity (Bremner 1999; Bremner et al. 1999; Steckler & Holsboer 1999), and since stress was associated with all our outcomes, PUD, depression, health behaviour and sleep, impulsivity may be a correlate of stress, which underlies increased health-related behaviour and diseases. Unfortunately, measurements of stress were not included in this study, thus the possible association between impulsivity and stress could not be controlled in the present study. Further research is needed to examine whether stress may be a factor behind impulsivity, PUD, depression, health behaviour and sleep.

# Serotonin underactivity: a potential link between impulsivity, depression and PUD?

A range of other mediating factors may plausibly explain the associations between impulsivity and PUD (II) and depression (III). At the biological level, the monoamine neurotransmitters dopamine and 5-HT are often related to temperament and our study variables (impulsivity, depression and PUD) linked with serotonin underactivity in 5-HT receptors (Coccaro et al. 1989; Cremniter et al. 1999; Evenden 1999; Linnoila et al. 1983; Malison et al. 1998; Owens & Nemeroff 1998; Spreux- Varoquaux et al. 2001). Furthermore, cortisol reactivity and serotonergic and dopaminergic system activity are other potential explanatory factors, because they are associated with both PUD (Athow et al. 1985; Landeira-Fernandez & Grijalva 2004; Lechin et al. 1990;) and impulsivity (Friedel 2004; Paris et al. 2004; Reist et al. 1996). A common genetic background may also partially underlie the association of impulsivity with depression and PUD. While shared genetic background is a potential explanation for present findings on impulsivity and depression, interactions with the environment as underlying mechanisms should also be considered.

As noted earlier, impulsivity is a subdimension and a strong correlate of NS (Cloninger et al. 1993), a temperament dimension mediated by genetic variability in dopamine transmission (Cloninger 1987b). Indeed, Ekelund et al. (1999) found that the two- and five-repeat alleles of the dopamine D4 receptor gene DRD4, were more common in individuals scoring high on NS scores, and Keltikangas-Järvinen et al. (2003) found an association between NS and DRD4 polymorphism, particularly in those with hostile childhood-rearing environments. On the other hand, Caspi et al. (2002) showed that the association between monoamine oxidase A (MAOA), which metabolizes the neurotransmitter 5-HT) and depression is moderated by the maltreatment of a child. Caspi et al. (2003) further showed that individuals with one or two copies of the short allele of the 5-HT transporter (5-HTT) gene become more easily depressed in responses to environmental stress than individuals homozygous for the long allele. In summation, these findings support the present results and the possibility that underactivity of serotonin functioning could be related to impulsivity, PUD and depression, as an underlying biological factor.

### 4.3. Strengths and limitations of the study

The specific strengths of this study were large sample size, relatively high response rate both at baseline (74%) and follow-up (81%) and a longitudinal design that allowed adjustment for baseline values (I- IV). This is apparently the first time these relationships were reported for a large sample of healthy working population at baseline (I, II, III, IV). The sex distribution of this cohort is similar to that in Finnish hospitals in general (STAKES 2004) and KSP impulsivity scale was highly reliable (Crombach's alpha 0.88).

There are also notable limitations in the present studies. As in other survey studies, the response to the questionnaire was voluntary. Bryman (1989) showed that volunteers tend to be individuals with higher academic levels, higher scores in intelligence quantient (IO) tests, less authoritarian and have a better capacity for adjustment than individuals who do not volunteer. Therefore this factor may be a source of bias limiting the generalization of our results to a wider population. Evenden (1999) suggested in his review that impulsivity is a multidimensional phenomenon and may be made up of several independent factors. Although the KSP assesses the broad dimensions of personality, it covers only a narrow facet of impulsivity. For example, the Eysenck questionnaire for impulsivity (Eysenck, S.G.B. 1993) or BIS-11 (Patton, Stanford & Barratt 1995) were designed to assess the various features of the impulsivity construct (e.g. cognitive, motor and trait). Our brief measure of impulsivity did not allow a more detailed analysis of different impulsivity dimensions and furthermore investigations are needed to study these possible differences. We had no opportunity to investigate the temporal stability of impulsivity, because impulsivity was assessed only at baseline, but there is evidence that impulsivity measured with the KSP is stable over time (Gustavsson et al. 1997). The sample was 90% female, included mainly caucasian people who worked in hospital environments, and most of them were healthcare professionals. Since impulsivity was measured with self-reports, our data are also open to common-method variance bias. However, while common-method variance is a serious source of artificially inflated associations in cross-sectional data, this is less likely to occur in longitudinal data with homogenous populations in terms of the outcome at baseline.

Use of self-reports (instead of a diagnostic instrument) to detect medically diagnosed depression and PUD may have resulted in some misclassification, further reducing the validity of present findings. The sensitivity and specificity of self-reports for PUD (II) and depression (III) may not be as good as for some other diagnoses, such as diabetes and cardiovascular diseases (Haapanen, Miilunpalo, Pasanen, Oja & Vuori 1997; Metzger,

Goldberg, Chastang, Leclerc & Zins 2002). However, there is evidence that self-report depression may be both a valid and reliable measurement compared with Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders IV (DSM-IV) diagnosed depression (Zimmerman et al. 2006). Furthermore, health care employees may be more accurate in reporting diagnoses than those from the general population. Moreover, the participants had regular checkups and other occupational health services offered by their employer. In the present cohort, the mean age was 43 years and the lifetime prevalence of PUD 5.0%. The 2-year incidence was 1.9% and this incidence was lower in younger employees. Although the empirical treatment of dyspepsia with potent antisecretory agents in recent years makes the diagnosis of PUD less frequent and reliable, our findings are well in line with those reported for other cohorts. For example, Ehlin et al. (2003) found a PUD prevalence of 2.3% at 30 years of age and 4.4% at 42 years of age in two British birth cohorts. Rosenstock et al. (2003) reported a PUD prevalence of 2.9% in a population-based sample of Danish adults. Previous studies have also shown associations between PUD and smoking (Martin et al. 1989), high alcohol consumption (Levenstein, Kaplan &, Smith 1997), higher age, male sex and lower social class (Ehlin et al., 2003). Our findings on predictors of newly diagnosed PUD accords with most of these findings, although the ORs did not attain statistical significance. Furthermore, the prevalence of lifetime depression (III) at baseline in the present study was 8.0%, which accords with previous reported figures for doctor-diagnosed depression in primary care patients (men 8.7% and women 13.0%; Wittchen, Höfler & Meister 2001) and also with the 5% 12-month prevalence of major depression obtained from structured diagnostic interviews in a representative sample of an employed population in Finland (Pirkola et al. 2005). Moreover, depression in relation to self-reports of mental distress (GHQ-12 responses) was also assessed (III). Mental distress may serve as a proxy measure for undiagnosed depression and, in this study, strongly predicted the onset of medically diagnosed depression. A subsidiary analysis using GHQ-12 responses as an outcome variable validated the findings of a predictive association between impulsivity and depression. This analysis, when the GHQ is used as an outcome measure of minor psychiatric morbidity, showed a finding similar to that of the main analysis in self-reported medically diagnosed depression, since the risk of minor psychiatric morbidity was

significantly higher among impulsive employees than among nonimpulsive subjects. These results are in accordance with previous studies and suggest that self-reporting can be a reliable and useful way to measure PUD and depression.

Finally, the present results may be useful in relation to screening of larger populations to identify subjects at increased risk of developing unhealthy behaviour and disease. The KSP impulsivity scale is a short and neutral questionnaire instrument that can easily be included in surveys of health risk behaviour, PUD, depression and sleep problems. The information obtained may help both the respondent and occupational health care in planning preventive actions against the excess risk related to high impulsivity.

### 4.4. Implications for further studies

Our findings raise several issues that deserve further study. First, it is unclear why impulsivity in women but not in men is related to higher use of nicotine (I). The reasons may relate to gender-specific roles, biological differences or some other factors. Further research effort is needed to determine whether the effect of impulsivity on health behaviour is independent of other temperament-related constructs (e.g. Heath et al. 1995; Pomerleau et al. 1992; Sabol et al. 1999). Since our data were based on self-reports and the subjects were caucasian, mainly female, hospital employees, further research with more objective measurements, greater ethnic variability and performed separately for men and women and in other occupational settings is needed.

Second, the insomnia scales (IV) used were based on self-reports, which may also reflect factors other than primary insomnia (van Dongen et al. 2005). Hence, there is a need for further studies in which insomnia is measured by clinical interview and laboratory recordings in addition to self-reports. No data were available for impulsivity at follow-up or insomnia at baseline and thus the temporal order between impulsivity and insomnia could not be confirmed (IV). Further studies with repeated measurements of both constructs are needed to determine the status of impulsivity as a risk factor for insomnia and to confirm that the present study identified the traitlike rather than the reactive aspects of impulsivity.

Third, although a range of possible confounding effects was statistically controlled for in the study on PUD, the possible role of the intake of NSAIDs and H. pylori remains unresolved (II). Since H. pylori is an important risk factor for PUD, it is a potential confounder if it also affects impulsivity, which is not currently known. Thus, more information is needed to confirm the generalizability of these findings and to investigate a larger variety of potential confounding factors that may affect the association between impulsivity and PUD.

Fourth, more information is also needed to determine how the interactions between impulsivity and environmental stressors affect the incidence of depression in nonclinical populations (III). In particular, it would be beneficial to examine the relationship between impulsivity and depression within the context of diathesis-stress theory (i.e. whether the more negative attributions of life events or greater exposure to such events among impulsive individuals explain their increased risk of depression). The follow-up period was relatively short (2 years) and the mean age of the study population was 43 years, a relatively late age of onset for major depressive disorders. If impulsivity is indeed a stable trait and affects depression risk across the life course, then a longer follow-up period with younger participants at baseline may reveal a stronger association between impulsivity and depression, but further research is needed to confirm this (III). An alternative explanation for the present findings is that a shared third factor underlies the association. A shared genetic background for impulsivity and insomnia, PUD and depression (II, III, IV), for example, provides an interesting topic for future studies with genetic data.

## **5. CONCLUSION**

In conclusion, prospective evidence from a large nonclinical population of hospital employees support the possibility that impulsivity increases the tendency towards behaviour involving risk to health (I) and, in men, may be associated with increased risk for insomnia (IV). This study also suggests that impulsivity could be a risk factor for PUD (II) and depression (III).

### 6. REFERENCES

- Adler, N.E., & Newman, K. (2002). Socioeconomic disparities in health: pathways and policies. *Health Affairs* (Milwood), 21, 60-76.
- Akerstedt, T. (2006). Psychosocial stress and impaired sleep. Scandinavian Journal of Work, Environment and Health, 32, 493-501.
- af Klinteberg, B., Schalling, D., Edman, G., Oreland, L., & Asberg, M. (1987). Personality correlates of platelet monoamine oxidase (MAO) activity in female and male subjects. *Neuropsychobiology*, 18, 89-96.
- af Klinteberg, B., Schalling, D., & Magnusson, D. (1986). Self-report assessment of personality traits. Data from the KSP inventory on a representative sample of normal male and female subjects within a developmental project. (Report No. 64 from the project Individual Development and Adjustment). Department of Psychology, Stockholm University.
- American Psychiatric Association (1994). Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders, DSM-IV, 4<sup>th</sup> edn. American Psychiatric Association, Washington D. C.
- Anda, R.F., Williamson, D.F., Escobedo, L.G., Remington, P.L., Mast, E.E., & Madans, J.H. (1992). Selfperceived stress and the risk of peptic ulcer disease. A longitudinal study of US adults. *Archives of Internal Medicine*, 152, 829-833.
- Anderson, J. C., Williams, S., McGee, R., & Silva, P.A. (1987). DSM-III disorders in preadolescent children: Prevalence in a large sample from the general population. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 44, 69-77.
- Angold, A., Costello, J., & Erkanli, A. (1999). Comorbidity. Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry, 40, 57-87.
- Aoyama, N., Kinoshita, Y., & Fujimoto, S. (1998). Peptic ulcers after the Hanshin-Awaji earthquake: increased incidence of bleeding gastric ulcers. *The American Journal of Gastroenterology*, 93, 311-316.
- Arnsten, A.F., & Shansky, R.M. (2004). Adolescence: Vulnerable period for stress-induced prefrontal cortical function? Introduction to part IV. Annals of the New York Academy of Science, 1021, 143-147.
- Athow, A. C., Sewerniak, A. T., Barton, T.P., Clark, C.G., & Lewin, M.R. (1985). Measurement of blood cortisol and acid output in patients with duodenal ulceration and normal subjects during insulin hypoglycaemia. *Clinical Science (Lond)*, 69, 37-40.
- Baker, T.B., Brandon, T.H., & Chassin, L. (2004). Motivational influences on cigarette smoking. Annual Review of Psychology, 55, 463-491.
- Barefoot, J. C., Smith, R. H., Dahlstrom, W. G., & Williams, R. B. (1989). Personality predictors of smoking behavior in a sample of physicians. *Psychology and Health*, 3, 37-43.

- Bergen, A. W., & Caporaso, N. (1999). Cigarette smoking. Journal of the National Cancer Institute, 91, 1365-1357.
- Bremner, J.D. (1999). Alterations in brain structure and function associated with post-traumatic stress disorder. *Seminars in Clinical Neuropsychiatry*, 4, 249-255.
- Bremner, J. D., Southwick, S. M., & Charney, D. S. (1999). The neurobiology of posttraumatic stress disorder: An integration of animal and human research. In P. Saigh & J.D. Bremner (Eds.) *Posttraumatic stress disorder: A comprehensive text* (pp.103-143). New York: Allyn and Bacon.
- Brodsky, B., Oquendo, M., Ellis, S., Haas, G., Malone, K., & Mann, J. (2001). The relationship of Childhood abuse to Impulsivity and Suicidal Behavior in Adults With Major Depression. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 158, 1871-1877.
- Brown, G. W. (1998). Genetic and population perspectives on life events and depression. *Social Psychiatry & Psychiatrical Epidemiology*. 33, 363-372.
- Bryman, A. (1989). Research Methods and Organization Studies, Unwin Hyman, London.
- Buss, A. H., & Plomin, R. (1975). A temperament theory of personality development. New York: Wiley.
- Carney, R.M., Blumenthal, J.A., Catellier, D., Freedland, K. E., Berkman, L. F., Watkins, L. L., Czajkowski, S. M., Hayano, J., & Jaffe, A. S. (2003). Depression as a risk factor for mortality after myocardinal infarction. *American Journal of Cardiology*, 92, 1277-1281.
- Carver, C.S., & White, T.L. (1994). Behavioural inhibition, behavioural activation, and affective responses to impending reward and punishment: the BIS/BAS Scales. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 67, 319-333.
- Caspi, A., Harrington, H., Moffit, T., Begg, D., Dickson, N., Langley, J., & Silva, P. (1997). Personality differences predict health risk behaviours in young adulthood: Evidence from a longitudinal study. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 73, 1052-1063.
- Caspi, A., McLay, J., Moffitt, T. E., Mill, J., Martin, J., Craig, I. W., Taylor, A., & Poulton, R. (2002). Role of genotype in the cycle of violence in maltreated children. *Science*, 297, 851-854.
- Caspi, A., Sugden, K., Moffitt, T. E., Taylor, A., Craig, I. W., Harrington, H., McClay, J., Mill, J., Martin, J., Braithwaite, A., & Poulton, R. (2003). Influence of Life Stress on Depression: Moderation by a polymorphism in the 5-HTT gene. *Science*, 301, 386-389.
- Cataldo, M., Nobile, M., Lorusso, M. L., Battaglia, M., & Moltemi, M. (2005). Impulsivity in depressed children and adolescents: A comparison between behavioural and neuropsychological data. *Psychiatry Research*, 136, 123-133.
- Chen, R., Wei, L., Hu, Z., Qin, X., Copeland, J.R., & Hemingway, H. (2005). Depression in older people in rural china. Archives of Internal Medicine, 165, 2019-2025.

- Cloninger, C.R., Svrakic, D.M., & Przybeck, T.R. (1993). A psychobiological model of temperament and character. Archives of General Psychiatry, 50, 975-990.
- Cloninger, C.R. (1987a). A systematic method for clinical description and classification of personality variants: a proposal. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 44, 573-588.
- Cloninger, C.R. (1987b). Neurogenetic adaptive mechanism in alcoholism. Science, 236, 410-416.
- Cloninger, C.R., Przybeck, T.R., & Svrakic, D.M. (1991). The Tridimensional Personality Questionnaire: US normative data. *Psychological Reports*, 69, 1047-1057.
- Coccaro, E.F., Siever, L.J., Klar, H.M., Maurer, G., Cochrane, K., Cooper, T.B., Mohrs, R.C., & Davis K.L. (1989). Serotonergic studies in patients with affective and personality disorders: correlates with suicidal and impulsive aggressive behavior. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 46, 587-599.
- Corruble, E., Benyamina, A., Bayle, F., Falissard, B., & Hardy, P. (2003). Understanding impulsivity in severe depression? A psychometrical contribution. *Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology and Biological Psychiatry*, 27, 829-833.
- Corruble, E., Damy, C., & Guelfi, J.D. (1999). Impulsivity: a relevant dimension in depression regarding suicide attempts. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 53, 211-215.
- Cremniter, D., Jamain, S., Kollenbach, K., Alvarez, J-C., Lecrubier, Y., Gilton, A., Jullien, P., Lesieur, P., Bonnet, F., & Spreux-Varoquaux, O. (1999). CSF 5-HIAA levels are lower in impulsive as compared to nonimpulsive violent suicide attempters and control subjects. *Biological Psychiatry*, 45, 1572-1579.
- Daruna, J.H., & Barnes, P.A. (1993). A neurodevelopmental view of impulsivity. In McCown W. G., Johnson, J. L., Shure, M. B. (eds), *The impulsive client: theory, research and treatment*. American Psychological Association, Washington DC.
- Dawe, S., Gullo, M., & Loxton, N. (2004). Reward drive and rash impulsiveness as dimensions of impulsivity: Implications for substance misuse. *Addictive Behaviors*, 29, 1389-1405.
- Dickman, S. J. (1990). Functional and dysfunctional impulsivity: personality and cognitive correlates. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 58, 95-102.
- Druss, B.G., Rosenheck, R.A., & Sledge, W.H. (2000). Health and costs of depressive illness in a major US corporation. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 157, 1274-1278.
- Ehlin, A.G.C., Montgomery, S.M., Ekbom, A., Pounder, R.E., & Wakefield, A.J. (2003). Prevalence of gastroinestinal diseases in two British national birth cohorts. *Gut*, 52, 1117-1121.
- Ekelund, J., Lichtermann, D., Järvelin, M-R., & Peltonen, L. (1999). Association between novelty seeking and the type 4 dopamine receptor gene in a large Finnish cohort sample. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 156, 1453-1455.

- Ellard, K., Beaurepaire, J., Jones, M., Piper, D., & Tennant, C. (1990). Acute and chronic stress in duodenal ulcer disease. *Gastroenterology*, 99, 1628-1632.
- Elovainio, M., Kivimäki, M., Puttonen, S., Heponiemi, T., Pulkki, L., & Keltikangas-Järvinen, L. (2004). Temperament and depressive symptoms: a popular-based longitudinal study on Cloninger's psychobiological temperament model. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 83, 227-232.
- Evenden, J.L. (1999). Varieties of impulsivity. Psychopharmacology, 146, 348-361.
- Eysenck, H.J., & Eysenck, M.W. (1985). *Personality and Individual Differences: A Natural Science Approach*. New York: Plenum.
- Eysenck, H.J. (1967). The biological basis of personality. Charles C. Thomas, Springfield, Ill.
- Eysenck, S.G.B. (1993). The 17: development of a measure of impulsivity and its relationship to the superfactors of personality. In McCown WG, Johnson JL, Shure MB (eds) *The impulsive client: theory, research and treatment*. APA, Washington, D.C.
- Fabsitz, R.R., Sholinsky, P., & Goldberg, J. (1997). Correlates of sleep problems among men: the Vietnam Era Twin Registry. *Journal of Sleep Research*, 6, 50-56.
- Fawcett, J., Scheftner, W., Clark, D., Hedecer, D., Gibbons, R., & Coryell, W. (1987). Clinical predictors of suicide in patients with major affective disorders: a controlled prospective study. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 144, 35-40.
- Feldman, M., Walker, P., Green, J.L., & Weingarden, K. (1986). Life events stress and psychosocial factors in men with peptic ulcer disease. A multidimensional case-controlled study. *Gastroenterology*, 91, 1370-1379.
- Feldman, M., Walker, P., Goldschmiedt, M., & Cannon, D. (1992). Role of affect and personality in gastric acid secretion and serum gastrin concentration. Comparative studies in normal men and in male duodenal ulcer patients. *Gastroenterology*, 102, 175-180.
- Fergus, E.L., Miller, R.B., Luckenbaugh, D.A., Leverich, G.S., Findling, R.L., Speer, A.M., & Post, R.M. (2003). Is there progression from irritability/dyscontrol to major depressive and manic symptoms? A retrospective community survey of parents of bipolar children. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 77, 71-78.
- Flemons, W.W. (2002). Obstuctive sleep apnea. New England Journal of Medicine, 347, 498-504.
- Friedel, R.O. (2004). Dopamine dysfunction in borderline personality disorder: a hypothesis. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 29, 1029-1039.
- Fryer, T., Brugha, T., Morgan, Z., Smith, J., Hill, T., Carta, M., Lehtinen, V., & Kovess, V. (2004). Prevalence of psychiatric disorder in Europe:the potential and reality of meta-analysis. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, 39, 899-905.
- Goldberg, D., & Williams, P. (1988). A users guide to the general health questionnaire. Berkshire (UK): NFER-Nelson Publishing Co.:Windsor.

- Goodwin, R.D., & Stein, M.B. (2003). Peptic ulcer disease and neuroticism in the United States adult population. *Psychotherapy and Psychosomatics*, 72, 10-15.
- Goodwin, R.D., & Stein, M.B.(2002). Generalized anxiety disorder and peptic ulcer disease among adults in the United States. *Psychosomaic Medicine*, 64, 862-866.
- Grau, E., & Ortet, G. (1999). Personality traits and alcohol consumption in a sample of non-alcoholic women. Personality and Individual Differences, 27, 1057-1066.
- Gray, J. A. (1987). Perspectives on anxiety and impulsivity: A commentary. Journal of Research in Personality, 21, 493-509.
- Grucza, R.A., Przybeck, T.H., Spitznagel, L.E., & Cloninger, C.R. (2003). Personality and depressive symptoms: a multi dimensional analysis. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 74, 123-130.
- Gustavsson, J.P., Weinryd, R.M., Göransson, S, Pedersen, N.L., & Åsberg, M. (1997). Stability and predictive ability of personality traits across 9 years. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 22, 789-791.
- Haapanen, N., Miilunpalo, S., Pasanen, M., Oja, P., & Vuori, I. (1997). Agreement between questionnaire data and medical records of chronic diseases in middle-aged and elderly Finnish men and women. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 145, 762-769.
- Hampson, S.E., & Goldberg, L.R. (2006). A first large cohort study of personality trait stability over the 40 years between elementary school and midlife. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 91, 763-779.
- Hansenne, M., Delhez, M., & Cloninger, C.R. (2005). Psychometric properties of the temperament and character inventory-revised (TCI-R) in a Belgium sample. *Journal of Personality Assessment*, 85, 40-49.
- Harvey, A.G. (2001). Insomnia: symptom or diagnosis? Clinical Psychology Review, 21, 1037-1059.
- Hasin, D.S., Goodwin, R.D., Stinson, S.F., & Grant, B.F. (2005). Epidemiology of major depressive disorder: results from the National Epidemiologic Survey on Alcoholism and Conditions. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 62, 1097-1106.
- Heath, A.C., Madden, P.A., Slutske, W.S., & Martin, N. G. (1995). Personality and the inheritance of smoking behavior: a genetic perspective. *Behavioral Genetics*, 25, 103-117.
- Holi, M.M., Marttunen, M., & Aalberg, V. (2003). Comparison of the GHQ-36, the GHQ-12 and the SCL-90 as psychiatric screening instruments in the Finnish population. *Nordic Journal of Psychiatry*, 57, 233-238.
- Hoyle, R.H. (2000). Personality processes and problem behaviour. Journal of Personality, 68, 953-966.
- Hussong, A.M., & Chassin, L. (1994). The stress-negative affect model of adolescent alcohol use: disaggregating negative affect. *Journal of Studies on Alcohol*, 55, 707-718.

- Härmä, M., Hakola T., Kandolin I., Sallinen M., Virkkala J., Bonnefond A., & Mutanen P. (2006). A controlled intervention study on the effects of a very rapidly forward rotating shift system on sleep– wakefulness and well-being among young and elderly shift workers. *International Journal of Psychophysiology*, 59, 70 – 79
- Ireland, J., & Culpin, V. (2006). The relationship between sleeping problems and aggression, anger, and impulsivity in a population of juvenile and young offenders. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 38, 649-655.
- Jackson, C.J. (2002). Mapping Gray's model of personality onto the Eysenck Personality Profiler (EPP). Personality and Individual Differences, 32, 495-507.
- Jenkins, D.C., Stanton, B-A., Niemcryk, S.J., & Rose, R.M. (1988). A scale for the estimation of sleep problems in clinical research. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*, 41, 313-321.
- John, O.P., Donahue, E.M., & Kentle, R.L. (1991). The Big Five Inventory--Versions 4a and 54.
- Berkeley: University of California, Berkeley, Institute of Personality and Social Research.
- Jones, M.P. (2006). The role of psychological factors in peptic ulcer disease: beyond Helicobacter pylori and NSAIDs. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, 60, 407-412.
- Kaprio, J., Koskenvuo, M., Langinvainio, H., Romanov, K., Sarna, S., & Rose, R. J. (1987). Genetic influences on use and abuse of alcohol: a study of 5638 adult Finnish twin brothers. *Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research*, 11, 349-356.
- Kashani, J.H., Beck, N.C., Hoeper, E.W., Fallahi, C., Corcoran, C.M., Mcallister, J.A., Rosenberg, T.K., & Reid, J.C. (1987). Psychiatric disorders in a community sample of adolescents. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 144, 584-589.
- Keltikangas-Järvinen, L., Räikkönen, K., Ekelund, J., & Peltonen, L. (2003). Nature and nurture in novelty seeking. *Molecular Psychiatry*, 9, 308-311.
- Kendler, K., Karkowski, L., & Prescott, C. (1999). Causal Relationships Between Stressful Life Events and the Onset of Major Depression. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 156, 837-841.
- Kendler, K., Thornton, L., & Gardner, C. (2000). Stressful Life Events and Previous Episodes in the Etiology of Major Depression in Women: An Evaluation of the "Kindling" Hypothesis. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 157, 1243-1251.
- Kessler, R.C. (1997). The effects of stressful life events on depression. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 48, 191-214.
- Kessler, R.C., Greenberg, P.E., & Mickelson, K.D. (2001). The effects of chronic medical conditions on work loss and work cutback. *Journal of Occupational and Environmental Medicine*, 43, 218-225.
- Kilpeläinen, M., Terho, E. O., Helenius, H., & Koskenvuo, M. (2001). Validitation of a new questionnaire on asthma, allergic rhinitis and conjunctivitis among young adults. *Allergy*, 56, 377-384.

- Kim, Y.H., Lee, J.H., & Lee, S.S. (2002). Long-term stress and Helicobacter pylori infection independently induce gastric mucosal lesions in C57BL/6 mice. *Scandinavian Journal of Gastroenterology*, 37, 1259-1264.
- Kivimäki, M., Elovainio, M., & Vahtera, J. (2000). Workplace bullying and sickness absence in hospital staff. Occupational and Environmental Medicine, 57, 656-660.
- Kivimäki, M., Leino-Arjas, P., Virtanen, M., Elovainio, M., Keltikangas-Järvinen, L., Puttonen, S., Vartia, M., Brunner, E., & Vahtera, J. (2004). Work stress and incidence of newly diagnosed fibromyalgia: Prospective cohort study. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, 57, 417-422.
- Kivimäki, M., Virtanen, M., Vartia, M., Elovainio, M., Vahtera, J., & Keltikangas-Järvinen, L. (2003). Workplace bullying and the risk of cardiovascular disease and depression. *Occupational and Environmental Medicine*, 60, 779-783.
- Kopelman, P.G. (2000). Obesity as a medical problem. Nature, 404, 635-643.
- Koskenvuo, M., Kaprio, M., Rose, R. J., Kesäniemi, A., Sarna, S., Heikkilä, K., & Langinvainio, H. (1988). Hostility as a risk factor for mortality and ischaemic heart disease in men. *Psychosomatic Medicine*, 50, 330-340.
- Kotler, M., Iancu, I., Efroni, R., & Amir, M. (2001). Anger, impulsivity, social support, and suicide risk in patients with posttraumatic stress disorder. *The Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease*, 189, 162-167.
- Kurata, J.H., & Nogawa, A.N. (1997). Meta-analysis of risk factors for peptic ulcer. Nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs, Helicobacter pylori, and smoking. *Journal of Clinical Gastroenterology*, 24, 2-17.
- Kwon, P., & Laurenceau, J-P. (2002). A longitudinal study of the hopelessness theory of depression: testing the diathesis-stress model within a differential reactivity and exposure framework. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 58, 1305-1321.
- Labouvie, E.W., & McGee, C.R. (1986). Relation of personality to alcohol and drug use in adolescence. Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology, 54, 289-293.
- Landeira-Fernandez, J., & Grijalva, C.V. (2004). Participation of the substantia nigra dopaminergic neurons in the occurance of gastric mucosal erosions. *Physiology & Behavior*, 81, 91-99.
- Lechin, F., van der Dijs, B., Rada, I., Jara, H., Lechin, A.E., Cabrera, A., Lechin, M.E., Jimenez, V., Gomez, F., & Villa, S. (1990). Plasma neurotransmitters and cortisol in duodenal ulcer patients. Role of stress. *Digestive Diseases and Sciences*, 35, 1313-1319.
- Lecrubier, Y., Braconnier, A., Said, S., & Payan, C. (1995). The impulsivity rating scale (IRS): preliminary results. *European Psychiatry*, 10, 331-338.
- Lehto, A-M., & Sutela, H. (2004). Results from work life surveys 1977-2003. Statistics Finland, Helsinki.
- Levenstein, S., Prantera, C., Varvo, V., Arca, M., Scribano, M., Spinella, S., & Berto, E. (1996). Long-term Symptom Patterns in Duodenal Ulcers: Psychosocial Factors. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, 41, 465-472.

- Levenstein, S., Kaplan, G.A., & Smith, M.W. (1997). Psychological predictors of peptic ulcer incidence in the Alameda County Study. *Journal of Clinical Gastroenterology*, 24, 140-146.
- Lewin, J., & Lewis, S. (1995). Organic and psychosocial risk factors for duodenal ulcer. Journal of Psychosomatic Research, 39, 531-548.
- Linnoila, M., Virkkunen, M., Scheinin, M., Nuutila, A., Rimon, R., & Goodvin, F.K. (1983). Low cerebrospinal fluid 5-hydroxyindoleacetic acid concentration differentiates impulsive from nonimpulsive violent behavior. *Life Science*, 33, 2609-2614.
- Lipcus, I.M., Barefoot, J.C., Feaganes, J., Williams, R.B., & Siegler, I. C. (1994). A Short MMPI Scale to Identify People Likely to Begin Smoking. *Journal of Personality Assessment*, 62, 213-222.
- Lipowski, Z.J. (1984). What does the word "Psychosomatic" really mean? A historical and semantic inquiry. *Psychosomatic Medicine*, 46, 153-171.
- Magni, G., Di Mario, F., Trinciarelli, G., Borgherini, G., & Silvestri, A. (1988). Personality factors in chronic gastric and duodenal ulcers: a controlled study. *Gastroenterologie Clinique et Biologique*, 12, 926-930.
- Malison, R.T., Price, L.H., Berman, R., van Dyck, C.H., Pelton, G.H., Carpenter L., Sanacora, G., Owens, M.J., Nemeroff, C.V., Rajeevan, N., Baldwin, R.M., Seibyl, J.P., Innis, R.B., & Charney D.S. (1998). Reduced brain serotonin transporter availability in major depression as measured by [123I]-2-beta-carbomethoxy-3-beta-(4-iodophenyl) tropane and single photon emission computed tomography. *Biological Psychiatry*, 41, 1156-1164.
- Mann, J.J., Waternaux, C., Haas, G.L., & Malone, K.M. (1999). Toward a clinical model of suicidal behaviour in psychiatric patients. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 156, 181-189.
- Martin, D.F., Montgomery, E., Dobek, A.S., Patrissi, G.A., & Peura, D.A. (1989). Campylobacter pylori, NSAIDS, and smoking: risk factors for peptic ulcer disease. *The American Journal of Gastroenterology*, 84, 1268-1272.
- McGee, R, Feehan, M., Williams, S., Partridge, F., Silva. P.A., & Kelly, J. (1990). DSM-III disorders in a large sample of adolescents. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 29, 611-619.
- Metzger, M.H., Goldberg, M., Chastang, J.F., Leclerc, A., & Zins, M. (2002). Factors associated with selfreporting of chronic health problems in the French GAZEL cohort. Journal of Clinical Epidemiology, 55(1), 48-59.
- Miller, T.Q., Turner, T.W., Guijarro, M.L., & Hallet, A.J. (1996). A meta-analytic review of research on hostility and physical health. *Psychological Bulletin*, 119, 322-348.
- Mitchell, S. (1999). Measures of impulsivity in cigarette smokers and non-smokers. *Psychopharmachology*, 146, 455-464.

- Moradi, A.R., Doost, H.T., Taghavi, M.R., Yule, W., & Dalgleish, T. (1999). Everyday memory deficits in children and adolescents with PTSD: Performance on the Rivermead Behavioural Memory Test. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry, and Allied Disciplines*, 40, 357-361.
- Mulder, R.T. (2002). Alcoholism and personality. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, 36, 44-52.
- Murray, C.J., & Lopez, A.D. (1997). Alternative projections of mortality and disability by cause 1990-2020: Global Burden of Disease Study. *Lancet*, 349 (9064), 1498-1504.
- Nice, D.S., Garland, C.F., Hilton, S.M., Baggett, J.C., & Mitchell, R.E. (1996). Long-term health outcomes and medical effects of torture among US Navy prisoners of war in Vietnam. *The Journal of The American Medical Association*, 276, 375-381.
- Nordstrom, P., Gustavsson, P., Edman G., & Asberg, M. (1996). Temperamental vulnerability and suicide risk after attempted suicide. *Suicide and Life Threatening Behavior*, 26, 380-394.
- Ohayon, M.M., Zulley, J., Guilleminault, C., Smirne, S., & Priest, R.G. (2001). How age and daytime activities are related to insomnia in the general population: consequences for older people. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 49, 360-66.
- Owens, J., Maxim, R., Nobile, C., McGuinn, M., & Msall, M. (2000). Parental and self-report of sleep in children with attention-deficit/ hyperactivity disorder. *Archives of Pediatrics & Adolescent Medicine*, 154, 549-555.
- Owens M.J., & Nemeroff C. B. (1998). The serotonin transporter and depression. Depression and Anxiety, 8 (Suppl 1), 5-12.
- Patton, J.H., Stanford, M.S., & Barrat E.S. (1995). Factor structure of the Barrat Impulsiveness Scale. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 51, 768-774.
- Paris, J., Zweig-Frank, H., Ng Ying Kin, N.M.K., Schwartz, G., Steiger, H., & Nair, N.P.V. (2004). Neurobiological correlates of diagnosis and underlying traits in patients with borderline personality disorder compared with normal controls. *Psychiatry Research*, 121, 239-252.
- Paykel, E.S. (2003). Life-events and affective disorders. Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica, 108 (Suppl.418), 61-66.
- Pearson, N.J., Johnson, L.L., & Nahin, R.L. (2006). Insomnia, trouble sleeping, and complementary and alternative medicine: Analysis of the 2002 national health interview survey data. *Archives of Internal Medicine*, 166(16), 1775-1782.
- Perreira, K.M., & Sloan, F.A. (2002). Excess alcohol consumption and health outcomes: a 6-year follow up of men over age 50 from the health and retirement study. *Addiction*, 97, 301-310.
- Perry, B.D., & Pollard, R. (1998). Homeostasis, stress, trauma, and adaptation. A neurodevelopmental view of childhood trauma. *Child and Adolescent Psychiatric Clinics of North America*, 7, 33-51.
- Peto R. (1994). Smoking and death: the past 40 years and the next 40. BMJ 1994; 309: 937-939.

- Pezawas, L., Stamenkovic, M., Jagsch, R., Ackerl, S., Putz, C., Stelzer, B., Moffat, R., Schindler, S., Aschauer, H., & Kasper, S. (2002). A longitudinal view of triggers and tresholds of suicidal behavior in depression. *Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*, 63, 866-873.
- Pine, D.S., Cohen, P., Johnson, J.G., & Brook, J. S. (2002). Adolescent life events as predictors of adult depression. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 68, 49-57.
- Pirkola, S.P., Isometsä, E., Suvisaari, J., Aro, H., Joukamaa, M., Poikolainen, K., Koskinen, S., Aromaa, A., & Lönnqvist, J.K. (2005). The DSM-IV mood-, anxiety-, and alcohol use disorders and their comorbidity in the Finnish general population. Results from the Health 2000 Study. *Social Psychiatry* and Psychiatric Epidemiology, 40, 1-10.
- Pomerleau, C.S., Pomerleau, O.F., Flessland, K.A., & Basson, S.M. (1992). Relationship of Tridimensional Personality Questionnaire scores and smoking variables in female and male smokers. *Journal of Substance Abuse*, 4, 143-154.
- Quan, C., & Talley, N.J. (2002). Management of peptic ulcer disease not related to Helicobacter pylori or NSAIDs. *The American Journal of Gastroenterology*, 97, 2950-2961.
- Rehm, J., Room, R., Monteiro, M., et al. (2004). Alcohol use. In: Ezzati, M., Lopez, AD., Rodgers, A., Murray, C.J.L., eds. Comparative quantification of health risks. Global and regional burden of disease attributable to selected major risk factors, volume 1. Geneva: *World Health Organization*, 959 – 1108.
- Reist, C., Helmeste, D., Albers, L., Chhay, H., & Tang, S.W. (1996). Serotonin indices and impulsivity in normal volunteers. *Psychiatry Research*, 60, 177-184.
- Ring, A., Stein, D., Barak, Y., Teicher, A., Hadjez, J., Elizur A., & Weizman, A. (1998). Sleep disturbances in children with attention deficit/ hyperactivity disorder: a comparative study with healthy siblings. *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, 31, 572-578.
- Rosenstock, S., Jorgensen, T., Bonnevie, O., & Andersen, L. (2003). Risk factors for peptic ulcer disease: a population based prospective cohort study comprising 2416 Danish adults. *Gut*, 52, 186-193.
- Rosenstock, S.J., Jorgesen, T., Bonnevie, O., & Andersen, L.P. (2004). Does Helicobacter pylori infection explain all socio-economic differences in peptic ulcer incidence? Genetic and psychosocial markers for incident peptic ulcer disease in a large cohort of Danish adults. *Scandinavian Journal of Gastroenterology*, 39, 823-829.
- Roth, T. (2001). New developments for treating sleep disorders. *Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*, 62 (suppl), 10, 3-4.
- Rothbart, M.K, Ahadi, S.A., & Evans, D.E. (2000). Temperament and personality: origins and outcomes. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 78, 122-135.
- Sabol, S., Nelson, M., Fisher, C., Gunzareth, L., Marcus, S., Greenberg, B., Lucas, F., Benjamin, J., & Hamer, D. (1999). A genetic association for cigarette smoking behaviour. *Health Psychology*, 18, 7-13.

- Saint Hilaire, Z., Straub, J., & Pelissolo, A. (2005). Temperament and character in primary insomnia. *European Psychiatry*, 20, 188-192.
- Sarason, B. R., Shearin, E. N., Pierce, G. R., & Sarason, I.G. (1987). Interrelations of social support measures: Theoretical and practical implications. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 52, 813-832.
- Sateia, M. J., Doghramji, K., Hauri, P.J., & Morin, C.M. (2000) Evaluation of chronic insomnia: an American Academy of Sleep Medicine review. *Sleep*, 23, 243-308.
- Schalling, D., Edman, G., & Åsberg, M. (1983). Impulsive cognitive style and inability to tolerate boredom: Psychological studies of temperamental vulnerability. In: Zuckerman, M. editor. Biological bases of sensation seeking, impulsivity and anxiety. Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum; p. 122-150.
- Schalling, D., Asberg, M., Edman G., & Oreland, L. (1987). Markers for vulneralibity to psychopathology: temperament traits associated with platalet MAO activity. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, 76, 172-182.
- Scheier, M.F., Carvel, C.S., & Bridges, M.W. (1994). Distinguishing optimism from neuroticism (and trait anxiety, self mastery, and self-esteem): a re-evaluation of the Life Orientation Test. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 67, 1063-1078.
- Siegrist, J., & Rödel, A. (2006). Work stress and risk behaviour. *Scandinavian Journal of Work, Environment* & *Health*, 32, 473-481.
- Sillaber, I., & Henniger, M.S. (2004). Stress and alcohol drinking. Annals of Medicine, 36, 596-605.
- Singareddy, R.K., & Balon, R. (2001). Sleep and suicide in psychiatric patients. Review. *Annals of Clinical Psychiatry*, 13, 93-101.
- Spreux-Varoquaux, O., Alvarez, J-C., Berlin, I., Batista, G., Despierre, P-G., Gilton, A., & Cremniter, D. (2001). Differential abnormalities in plasma 5-HIAA and platalet serotonin concentrations in violent suicide attempters. Relationships with impulsivity and depression. *Life Science*, 69, 647-657.
- Spielberger, C.D., & Jacobs, G.A. (1982). Personality and smoking behaviour. *Journal of Personality Assessment*, 46, 396-403.
- Stakes (2004). Terveydenhuollon ammattihenkilöt. [The National Research and Development Centre for

   Welfare
   and
   Health,
   2004.
   Health
   care
   professionals].

   http://www.info/files/pdf/tilastotiedotteet/Tt10
   04.pdf.
   Searched 31.Nov.2005.
- Steckler, T., & Holsboer, F. (1999). Corticotropin-releasing hormone receptor subtypes and emotion. *Biological Psychiatry*, 46, 480-508.
- Steiger, H., Yong, S.N., Ng-Ying-Kin, N.M.K., Koerner, N., Israel, M., Lageix, P., & Paris, J. (2001). Implications of impulsive and affective symptoms for serotonine functioning in bulimia nervose. *Psychological Medicine*, 31, 85-95.
- Swann, A.C., Pazzaglia, P., Nichols, A., Dougherty, D.M., & Moeller, F.G. (2003). Impulsivity and phase of illness in bipolar disorders. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 77, 105-111.

- Swann, A. C., Steinberg, J.L., Lijffijt, M., & Moeller, G. (2007). Impulsivity: Differential relationship to depression and mania in bipolar disorder. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, in press.
- Tanasescu, M., Leitzmann, M.F., Rimm, E.B., Willett, W.C., Stampfer, M.J., & Hu, F.B. (2002). Exercise type and intensity in relation to coronary heart disease in men. *The Journal of American Medical Association*, 288, 1994-2000.
- Vahtera, J., Poikolainen, K., Kivimäki, M., Ala-Mursula, L., & Pentti, J. (2002). Alcohol intake and sickness absence: A curvlinear model. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 156, 969-976.
- van Dongen, H.P.A., Vitellaro, K.M., & Dinges, D.F. (2005). Individual differences in adult human sleep and wakefulness: Leitmotif for a research agenda. *Sleep*, 28, 479-96.
- Van Gool, C.H., Kempen, G.I., Penninx, B.W., Deeg, D.J., Beekman, A.T., & van Eijk, J.T. (2003). Relationship between chances in depressive symptoms and unhealthy lifestyles inlate middle aged and older persons: results from the Longitudinal Aging Study Amsterdam. *Age and Ageing*, 32, 81-87.
- Velez, C.N., Johnson, J., & Cohen, P. (1989). A longitudinal analysis of selected risk factors of childhood psychopathology. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 28, 55-75.
- Virtanen, M., Kivimäki, M., Elovainio, M., & Vahtera, J. (2002). Selection from fixed term to permanent employment: prospective study on health, job satisfaction, and behavioural risks. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health*, 56, 693-699.
- Voderholzer, U., Al-Shajlawi, A., Weske, G., Feige, B., & Riemann, D. (2003). Are gender differences in objective and subjective sleep measures? A study of insomniacs and healthy controls. *Depression and Anxiety*, 17, 162-172.
- Voderholzer, U., Hornyak, M., Thiel, B., Huwig-Poppe, C., Kiemen, A., König, A., Backhaus, J., Riemann, D., Berger, M., & Hohagen, F. (1998). Impact of Experimentally Induced Serotonin Deficiency by Tryptophan Depletion on Sleep EEG in Healthy Subjects. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 18, 112-120.
- Waldeck, T.L., & Miller, L.S. (1997).Gender and impulsivity differences in licit substance use. Journal of Substance Abuse, 9, 269-275.
- Whiteside, S.P., & Lynam, D.R. (2001). The Five Factor Model and impulsivity: using a structural model of personality to understand impulsivity. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 30, 669-689.
- WHO. http://www.who.int/whr/2002/chapter4/en/index4.html
- Wittchen, H.-U., Höfler, M., & Meister, W. (2001). Prevalence and recognition of depressive symptoms in German primary care settings: poorly recognized and treated? *International Clinical Psychopharmacology*, 16, 121-135.
- World Health Organization. (1997). Tobacco or health: a global status report. Geneva: World Health Organization.
- Zimmerman, M., Ruggero, C. J., Chelminski, I., Young, D., Posternak, M.A., FriedmanM., Boerescu, D., & Attiullah, N. (2006). Developing brief scales for use in clinical practice: the reliability and validity of

single-item self-report measures of depression symptom severity, psychosocial impairment due to depression, and quality of life. *Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*, 67, 1536-1541.

- Zuckerman, M. (1984). Sensation seeking: a comparative approach to a human trait. *Behavioral and Brain Sciences*, 7, 413-471.
- Zuckerman, M., & Cloninger, R. (1996). Relationships between Cloninger's, Zuckerman's and Eysenck's dimensions of personality. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 21, 283-285.
- Zuckerman, M., Eysenck, H.J., & Eysenck, S.B.G. (1978). Sensation seeking in England and America: Crosscultural, age and sex comparisons. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 65, 757-768.